Sex Differences in Endothelial Cell Angiogenic Capacity

Omid Rezvan

A Thesis submitted to the faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for Master of Science

> Graduate Program in Kinesiology and Health Science YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO. June 2020

> > ©Omid Rezvan, 2020

<u>Abstract</u>

There is a sex-specific difference in susceptibility to develop obesity-related disorders. Our lab's previous study on high-fat fed mice indicated higher angiogenesis in visceral adipose tissue of female mice, which accompanied preserved metabolic function of adipose tissue and better systemic glucose metabolism. The goal of this study was to determine if there are sex-related differences in endothelial cells (EC) angiogenic capacity that may contribute to higher adipose tissue angiogenesis in females.

To achieve this, visceral adipose tissue explants as well as cultured EC of male and female mice were used. Female EC showed higher sprouting success *ex-vivo*. Furthermore, female EC had higher proliferation *in vitro*. Protein levels of FoxO1 and phosphorylation of p38 MAPK were higher in females. Inhibition of PFKFB3 decreased proliferation only in males.

This project provided evidence for inherent sex-related differences in EC angiogenic capacity that higher adipose may be related to the tissue angiogenesis in females.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my late mother Zohreh Naziri, whose sincere love and support has continually inspired my life.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor Dr. Tara Haas. I am very grateful she took me on as a graduate student, shared her expertise and knowledge, and provided untiring support and guidance.

I would also like to thank Dr. Emilie Roudier for her advice and guidance throughout my graduate studies.

I would like to thank all of the past and present members of our lab, especially Martina, Emanuel and Matt. Thanks for all the help, support and friendship. It's been a privilege working with you.

A special thanks to my family and friends for their constant encouragement, love and support.

Table of Contents

Abstra	act	ii
Dedica	ation	iii
Ackno	wledgments	iv
Table	of Contents	v
List of	f figures	vii
List of	f abbreviations	viii
Chapter	1. Literature Review	1
1.1	Microvasculature	1
1.2	Vasculogenesis and Angiogenesis	3
1.3	Mechanisms of Angiogenesis	4
1.4	Endothelial cell angiogenic pathways	7
1.4.	1 VEGF family	7
1.4.	2 The Notch signaling pathway	11
1.4.	3 MAPK pathway:	12
1.4.4	4 FoxOI	15
1.5	EC Metabolism	16
1.5.	1 Glycolysis	17
1.5.	2 Fatty Acid Oxidation	18
1.6	Adipose Tissue	18
1.6.	1 Adipose Tissue Angiogenesis	21
1.6.	2 Obesity	22
1.6.	3 Obesity and Angiogenesis	22
1.7	Sex Differences in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders	24
1.7.	1 Sex Hormones in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders	25
1.7.	The Genetic Basis for Sex Differences in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders	
1./	3 Male and Female Endothelial Cells	29
1.8	Study Rationale	30
1.9	Hypothesis	32
1.10	Study Objectives	32
Chapter	2 Methods	33
2.1	Ethical approval	33
2.2	Cells	33
2.3	Adipose tissue Ex-Vivo Sprouting Assay	34
2.4	RNA extraction	34

2.5	q-RT PCR		
2.6	Protein extraction		
2.7	Protein quantification		
2.8	Western Blot		
2.9	Proliferation assay		
2.10	Migration assay		
2.11	Statistical Analysis		
Chapter	3 Results		
3.1	Distinct sprouting capacity of male and female adipose tissue ex-vivo:		
3.2	Similar AT vascularization and angiogenic environment in male and female mice 42		
3.3	Male and female EC migration		
3.4	Higher <i>in vitro</i> female EC proliferation compared to males		
3.5	Higher phosphorylation levels of p38 MAPK in females EC compared to males 47		
3.6	Higher FoxO1 protein level in female EC compared to males		
3.7	Glycolytic protein levels in male and female EC		
3.8	Function of angiogenic pathways in male and female EC migration		
3.9 3.9.	Function of angiogenic pathways in male and female EC proliferation		
3.9.2	2 Confluent EC plates		
Chapter	4 Discussion		
4.1	Sex differences in sprouting capacity		
4.2	No difference in VEGFA expression in male and female ex-vivo		
4.3	EC angiogenic capacity		
4.4 and fe	Differences in signaling pathways and their contributions to proliferation of male male EC		
Chapter	5 Conclusion		
5.1	Significance		
5.2	Limitations74		
5.3	Future Directions		
References			

List of figures

FIGURE 2-1: MIGRATION ASSAY
FIGURE 3-1: DISTINCT SPROUTING PATTERNS IN MALE AND FEMALE ADIPOSE EXPLANTS
FIGURE 3-2: SIMILAR MRNA EXPRESSION OF ENDOTHELIAL MARKERS AND ANGIOGENIC RELATED
GENES IN MALE AND FEMALE VISCERAL AT 43
FIGURE 3-3: MIGRATION OF MALE VS FEMALE EC
FIGURE 3-4: PROLIFERATION OF MALE VS FEMALE EC
FIGURE 3-5: PHOSPHORYLATION LEVELS OF MAPK PATHWAY IN MALE VS FEMALE EC 48
FIGURE 3-6: PHOSPHORYLATION LEVELS OF AKT AND MAPK IN MALE VS FEMALE EC IN
RESPONSE TO VEGF TREATMENT
FIGURE 3-7: PROTEIN LEVELS OF FOXO1, P-FOXO1 AND PAKT IN MALE VS FEMALE EC 51
FIGURE 3-8: PROTEIN LEVELS OF GAPDH, HK2 AND PFKFB3 IN MALE VS FEMALE EC
FIGURE 3-9: EFFECT OF FOXO1 INHIBITION ON PROTEIN LEVELS OF HK2 AND PFKFB3 IN MALE VS
FEMALE EC
FIGURE 3-10: CONTRIBUTION OF CELL SIGNALING PATHWAYS TO MIGRATION OF MALE VS FEMALE
EC
FIGURE 3-11: SIGNALING PATHWAYS CONTRIBUTION TO THE PROLIFERATION OF SUB-CONFLUENT
MALE AND FEMALE EC
FIGURE 3-12: SIGNALING PATHWAY CONRIBUTIONS TO PROLIFERATION OF CONFLUENT EC 59
FIGURE 4-1: SUMMARY OF THE EFFECTS OF P38 AND FOXO1 ON THE PROLIFERATION OF MALE AND
FEMALE EC
FIGURE 5-1: SCHEMATIC DEPICTING POTENTIAL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN ESR1 SIGNALING,
FOXO1 AND P38 MAPK IN THE REGULATION OF EC PROLIFERATION

List of abbreviations

AKT	Protein kinase B
ANG-1	Angiopoietin 1
AT	Adipose tissue
CPT1a	Carnitine palmitoyl- transferase 1A
D114	Delta like ligand 4
E2	Estradiol
EC	Endothelial cell
ECM	Extra cellular membrane
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ERK1/2	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase1/2
ESR1	Estrogen receptor 1
ET-1	Endothelin 1
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FFA	Free fatty acid
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FoxO1	Forkhead box protein O1
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GIST-T1	Gastrointestinal stromal tumor cells
GPCR	G protein coupled receptor
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
Hes1	Hairy and enhancer of split-1
Hey1	Hairy/enhancer-of-split related with YRPW motif protein 1
HFD	High-fat diet
HK2	Hexokinase-2
HPMEC	Human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells
Hprt1	Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell
ICAM	Intercellular Adhesion Molecule
IL-1	Interleukin-1
Jag1	Jagged1
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
Kdr	Kinase insert domain receptor
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAPKK/MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
МАРККК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase kinase

MMP	Matrix metallopeptidases
MST1/2	Mammalian sterile 20-like kinases 1 and 2
NCID	Notch intracellular domain
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PECAM1	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule 1
PFKFB3	6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6 bisphosphatase 3
PGF	Placental growth factor
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PLC y	Phospholipase C y
q-RT-PCR	Quantitative Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction
RTK	Receptor tyrosine kinase
SHB	Src Homology-2 domain containing protein B
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SVF	Stromal vascular fraction
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor beta 1
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor α
TXA-2	Thromboxane A2
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion protein 1
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
VPF	Vascular permeability factor
VWF	Von Willebrand factor
WI-38	Fibroblasts derived from lung tissue
YAP-1	Yes-associated protein 1

Chapter 1. Literature Review

1.1 Microvasculature

Survival of mammalian cells is dependent on blood vessels of the circulatory system that provide oxygen and nutrients as well as transferral of metabolic all tissues in the body. The recognition of by-products from а blood circulation system as it is known now dates back to the 16th century and the experimental methods of William Harvey, which is pioneering considered a turning point in the annals of biomedical history (Bylebyl, 1978).

The circulatory system is one of the first functional systems to form during embryogenesis. Blood vessels comprise only 7% of the total body volume, yet they are ubiquitously distributed throughout the body as a result of their highly organized and complex branching pattern and in the adults add up to 90,000 km in total length. (Carmeliet, 2000; Eelen et al., 2017; Gutterman et system is comprised of the macrovasculature al., 2016). This (arteries and veins) responsible for transporting large volumes of blood rapidly toward or the microvasculature (arterioles. and away from organs and venules capillaries) that forms a network that conducts oxygen and nutrient exchange at the cell level in the tissues (Yuan and Rigor, 2011). Arterioles are involved flow in controlling the local blood to the tissue, whereas capillaries and postcapillary venules are the main sites of gas and nutrient exchange (Levick, 1991).

The capillary structure was first described by Theodor Schwann in the nineteenth century. The term endothelium was later used by Wilhelm His to

describe the internal layer of cells lining the capillaries (Bikfalvi, 2017). cells form These auiescent а monolayer called phalanx cells that are by junctional molecules such as vascular-endothelial connected to each other claudins and platelet endothelial cell adhesion (VE) cadherin, molecule (PECAM1) (Carmeliet and Jain, 2011). On the lumenal side, endothelial cells (EC) express surface glycoproteins; while on the basolateral sides these cells express cell surface integrins to attach to the basal membrane. The basement laminin, collagen IV membrane consists of and other extracellular matrix (ECM) molecules depending on the type of microvessel. Capillaries are composed of a layer of EC surrounded by basement membrane and a sparse layer of perivascular (mural) cells such as pericytes. EC produce several including PDGF-B, TGF-β1 and VEGF required factors for pericyte proliferation migration recruitment, differentiation, and (Betsholtz, 2004; Darland and D'Amore, 2001; Kashiwagi et al., 2005; Ribatti et al., 2011). As the vessel structure increases in complexity, pericytes and smooth muscle cells wrap around the EC to help maintain the integrity of the vessel structure (Jain, 2003).

EC are indispensable for proper function of vascular system. Since they are in constant contact with the flowing blood stream, they are perfectly positioned to modulate a number of biological systems in blood. EC are involved in safeguarding transport of blood, controlling vascular permeability and regulation of vascular tone as well as inflammation (Rohlenova et al., 2018; Sturtzel, 2017). The permeability of the blood vessel is mostly controlled by

EC-EC junctions (Claesson-Welsh, 2015; Levick, 1991). The endothelium releases a number of vasoactive factors that are either vasodilatory such as prostacyclin or vasoconstrictive nitric oxide and such as endothelin-1 and thromboxane (Sandoo et al., 2010). In tissue EC trauma, maintain their barrier function in cooperation with platelets which leads the process to of cascade coagulation. The coagulation culminates in the formation of clots that plug the injured blood vessel. EC play an essential role in regulating the especially expressing procoagulant molecules coagulation cascade by such as von Willebrand factor (VWF) (Engelmann and Massberg, 2013; Kazmi et al., 2015; Yau et al., 2015). EC actively mediate immune responses at places of injury or infection (Pober and Sessa, 2007). EC paracrine function is essential in modulation of immune cells they secrete chemokines, as interleukins. EC interferons and growth factors. Moreover, express adhesion molecules such as endothelial-selectin, platelet-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 and regulate recruitment of immune cells in inflammation (Vestweber, 2012).

1.2 Vasculogenesis and Angiogenesis

first blood vessels in body are formed during embryogenesis through in The situ differentiation of precursor cells (angioblasts) to EC that assemble into a vascular web (plexus) in process termed primitive а vasculogenesis (Carmeliet, 2003). After formation of the primary vascular plexus, generation of more EC leads to development of new capillaries. In adults, existing blood diameter through vessels undergo increase а process called arteriogenesis.

New the other hand, are formed from pre-existing capillaries capillaries on 2000; Heil 2006). through angiogenesis (Carmeliet, et al., John Hunter. а the first scientist who used British surgeon, was the term angiogenesis in Carl Thiersch demonstrated the formation of new 1787 (Hall, 2005). blood vessels in tumors in 1865. In the early 20th century, scientists started to focus on angiogenesis and vascularization as a potential approach to predict the studying delivery malignancy as well as the of therapeutic tumor agents administrated against these tumors.

In healthy adults, capillary EC are quiescent and are maintained in this state well by signaling from pathways like by shear stress as as NOTCH, angiopoietin-1 (ANG-1) and fibroblast growth factors (FGFs). Production maintenance of complex network of vessels requires and а an intricate signaling pathways controlling progression of events and angiogenesis as as modulation of EC survival and maintenance of vessel well integrity by mural cells pericytes (Murakami, 2012; Quaegebeur such as et al., 2010). Physiological angiogenesis occurs in the female reproductive system, during wound healing, in response to exercise in skeletal muscles and during expansion of adipose whereas pathological angiogenesis tissue causes considered to be diabetic retinopathy and also is one of the hallmarks in tumor growth (Carmeliet and Jain, 2000; Gustafsson, 2011).

1.3 Mechanisms of Angiogenesis

different New capillaries are formed through angiogenesis by two (abluminal) angiogenesis, mechanisms. In sprouting growth of endothelial

sprouts from pre-existing capillaries gives rise to new capillaries (Carmeliet, 2000). In this process, degradation of ECM is followed by proliferation and migration of EC. This rearrangement of EC leads to formation of the new blood vessel lumen and functional maturation of the new capillary (Risau, 1997). Sprouting angiogenesis can be prompted by a number of different angiogenic stimuli including inflammation and hypoxia. Factors such as VEGF, FGF and ANG-1 are released by a hypoxic or inflammatory cell, which activate EC within a quiescent vessel and coordinate the proliferation and migration of EC (Carmeliet, 2000; Ferrara et al., 2003; Phng and Gerhardt, 2009; Risau, 1997). Initiation of sprouting is accompanied by pericytes releasing themselves from the ECM by proteolytic degradation mediated matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Subsequently, EC by loosen their junctions and migrate into the surrounding ECM. At the same time, protrusions called filopodia from activated EC start to invade the basement membrane and Iruela-Arispe, 2010). Specialized actin-based (Arroyo structures called podosomes are critically involved in degrading the ECM and promoting invasion and migration of EC and this process is modulated by VEGF and Notch signaling (Murphy and Courtneidge, 2011). To prevent the activation and migration of all EC towards the angiogenic signal, some cells are selected as guiding tip cells and the neighbours assume the stalk cell phenotype (Arroyo and Iruela-Arispe, 2010; Carmeliet, 2003; Carmeliet and Jain, 2011; Risau, 1997). Tip cells are characterized by their migratory behavior that guides the growing sprout towards the angiogenic cues in the

environment whereas stalk cells are highly proliferative and support the stability of the vessel and formation of the lumen (Gerhardt et al., 2003).

angiogenesis, which is called Another type of intussusceptive or nonangiogenesis, involves splitting of sprouting а pre-existing vessel by transcapillary pillars of ECM to create two parallel vessels or to remodel the existing blood vessel (Makanya et al., 2009). This process begins with migration endothelial each of opposing walls toward other forming an pillar followed reorganization of EC-EC intraluminal by junctions. The newly formed pillar is invaded by pericytes and myofibroblasts depositing pillar. Splitting of the capillary into two new ECM into the capillaries is finalized when several pillars fuse with each other (Spiegelaere et al., 2012).

angiogenesis requires lower of EC proliferation Intussusceptive rates angiogenesis. Moreover, is accomplished compared to sprouting it in а tissue degradation shorter time and with minimal (Makanya et al., 2009). Intravascular blood flow is the main factor in initiating and modulating angiogenesis (Mentzer and Konerding, 2014). intussusceptive Non-sprouting angiogenesis was first described by Caduff et al. (1986) in rat pulmonary embryogenesis. vessel development during Their observations that indicated in the phase of rapid alveolarization and capillary growth in rat embryos, new capillary formation is dependent solely on intussusceptive rather than angiogenesis (Caduff et al., 1986). Non-sprouting angiogenesis sprouting has muscle been reported to occur in myocardium and skeletal vascular bed especially in response to exercise training (Caduff et al., 1986; Van

Groningen et al., 1991; Zhou et al., 1998). Moreover, some tumors such as human colon adenocarcinoma are vascularized through intussusceptive al., 2016). Molecular mechanisms involved in angiogenesis (Krishna Priya et intussusceptive angiogenesis modulation of are not as well understood compared to sprouting angiogenesis (Spiegelaere et al., 2012) and thus I will not focus more on it in this thesis.

1.4 Endothelial cell angiogenic pathways

Sprouting is coordinated by multiple cellular and molecular pathways. The following are some of the major endothelial angiogenic pathways involved.

1.4.1 VEGF family

Vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-A is the main growth factor in an angiogenic superfamily includes VEGF-B, C, D, Е that also and placenta growth factor (PGF) (Kowanetz and Ferrara, 2006). The existence of VEGF was first reported by Senger and Dvorak in 1983. This vascular permeability factor (VPF) was purified from tumor cells and was able to promote accumulation of ascites fluid in the abdominal cavity (Senger et al., 1983). In 1989, VPF was isolated and purified from tumors in the Folkman lab and at the same time it was purified and sequenced by Ferrara and was called VEGF (Ferrara and Henzel, 1989; Rosenthal et al., 1990).

Hypoxia is a major inducer of VEGF production. Under hypoxic conditions, hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) are stabilized and bind to the promoter region of *Vegfa* enhancing transcription (Pugh and Ratcliffe, 2003; Wang and Semenza, 1993). VEGF gene expression also is upregulated by a number of

factors and cytokines including platelet-derived growth growth factor А (PDGF-A), FGF, epidermal growth factor (EGF), Tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β) and interleukin-1 (IL-1) (Carmeliet, 2005; Ferrara et al., 2003).

The rapid increase in vascular permeability was the first known function of VEGF (Senger et al., 1983; Thomas, 1996). Early studies also showed the mitogenic effect of VEGF on vascular EC (Leung et al., 1989; Pepper et al., Subsequently, Alon et al. (1995) proposed 1992). the instrumental role of VEGF maintaining the viability of immature vasculature. Their in study that the hyperoxia-induced withdrawal of VEGF leads showed to apoptosis and regression of retinal capillaries in retinopathy of prematurity (Alon et al., Additionally. the effect of VEGF on mediating 1995). chemotaxis and motility of EC was studied by Koch et al. in 1994. Studies with partial and complete genetic ablation of VEGF and its receptors in mice have shown the critical role of VEGF signaling in blood vessel formation and viability of embryos. Studies have shown that ablation of VEGF is lethal in mouse embryo as a result of impairment of angiogenesis and several developmental anomalies (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996).

In adults, autocrine VEGF has different effects on angiogenic activity of EC compared to paracrine VEGF. A study by Lee et al. (2007) using mice with in EC showed importance VEGF ablation the of autocrine VEGF in maintenance of vascular homeostasis. The systemic EC apoptosis observed in VEGF^{ECKO} mice were not compensated by the effect of paracrine VEGF

other cell types neighbouring EC. Furthermore, this produced by studv autocrine VEGF was not involved in angiogenic showed that modulation of the mice that lacked autocrine VEGF response as production had the same vascular density and patterning as the control group. Paracrine VEGF on the hand is considered the main growth factor involved other in angiogenic response (Gerber et al., 1999).

VEGF-A functions mainly through VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR-2 or FLK1 or The activity of VEGFR-2 is enhanced KDR) signaling. by VEGF cocalled Neuropilins (NRP1 and NRP2). In addition to VEGFR2, receptors 2 other tyrosine kinase receptors that bind to various VEGF there are isoforms. VEGF-B and PGF selectively bind to VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) and VEGF-D activate VEGFR3 (Alitalo et al., 2005). VEGFR1 C and and 2 are expressed in a number of different cells including vascular EC, monocytes, hematopoietic stem macrophages and cells. VEGFR3 on the other hand is expressed lymphatic EC and involved in lymphangiogenesis mostly in is (Alitalo et al., 2005). VEGFR3 has also been shown to be expressed in EC tip cells during sprouting (Tammela et al., 2008). Although both VEGFR1 and 2 activated by VEGF-A, VEGFR2 is responsible for most of VEGF can be signaling in vascular EC (Olsson et al., 2006). The activity of VEGFR2 is regulated by the availability of its ligand. Upon binding VEGF, VEGFR-2 dimerizes several its tyrosine residues and of are phosphorylated and depending the phosphorylated residue, different downstream intracellular on signal mediators are activated (Eliceiri et al., 1999; Guo et al., 1995).

Phosphorylation of Y951 leads to activation of Src protein, which in turn promoting cell adhesion, activates PI3K/AKT pathway, vascular permeability cell Phosphorylation of Y1175 SHB and survival. mobilises which FAK and controls cell attachment and subsequently activates migration. Y1175 phosphorylation also leads to recruitment of PLC- γ , which in turn upregulates the expression of MEK/ERK pathway leading to increased cell migration. proliferation and Finally, phosphorylated Y1214 activates p38MAPK, leading to cell migration (Gerber et al., 1998; Peach et al., 2018; Takahashi et al., 1999).

Alternative splicing of VEGF mRNA leads production of nine VEGF to isoforms that exert different effects on protein angiogenic activity of EC 1998; Kroll and Waltenberger, 1997, 1999; Waltenberger et (Gerber et al.. These isoforms have different C-terminal sequence and therefore al., 1994). differ in their ability to bind to ECM molecules such as heparan sulfate and co-receptors such Neuropilin-1. For VEGF proteoglycans as example, 121 heparin binding domain and is freely diffusible, whereas contains no VEGF 189 with two heparin binding domains is found tightly associated with with one heparin binding domain, has intermediate ECM and VEGF 165. diffusive properties (Park et al., 1993). The difference in ECM binding and proteolytic release of VEGF isoforms from ECM leads to formation of a this spatial distribution is а gradient of VEGF and key regulator of angiogenesis (Vempati et al., 2014). The role of VEGF gradients in directing the formation of new capillaries has been studied in the vascularization of

mouse retina (Gerhardt et al., 2003). This model showed that VEGF gradients stimulate and guides EC at the tip of new vascular sprouts. Tip cells lead the growing sprout towards the VEGF whereas stalk cells respond to absolute concentrations of VEGF rather than the gradient and proliferate and form the lumen of the blood vessel (Phng and Gerhardt, 2009). Mice expressing only VEGF 188 (VEGF 189 ortholog), which binds strongly to ECM, have shown branching and increased enhanced vascular vascular density whereas mice expressing only VEGF 120 (VEGF 121 ortholog), which is soluble, have poor branching, enlarged vessel diameter and lack of filopodia extension in their EC (Ruhrberg et al., 2002).

1.4.2 The Notch signaling pathway

The Notch pathway controls two main processes involved in angiogenesis, proliferation and migration, by regulating the tip and stalk cell phenotypes of The Notch pathway is activated when a Notch ligand on EC. one cell interacts with a Notch receptor on the adjacent cell, which triggers proteolytic cleavage of the Notch receptor by an intracellular enzyme called γ -secretase. The released Notch intracellular domain (NCID) translocates to the nucleus and binds to its target transcription factor CSL (RBP-Jk) and upregulates the expression of target genes hairy, hairy enhancer of split (Hes-1, 5, 7) and Hes related proteins (Hey 1-3) (Iso Tatsuya et al., 2003). Activation of VEGFR2 a tip cell induces the expression of Notch ligand signaling on D114. Consequently, Dll4 binds NOTCH1 receptors on the neighbouring cells and expression of Heyl and 2. Inhibition of these transcription factors inhibits

leads decreased expression of VEGFR2 and subsequently reduces these to responsiveness to VEGF and elicits a stalk cell phenotype (Blanco and cells' Gerhardt, 2013). The crucial role of Notch signaling in vascular biology has been clearly demonstrated in different rodent studies. In mice, mutations of ligands and effectors cause abnormalities in Notch receptors, the vascular system (Iso Tatsuya et al., 2003). For instance, disruption of Dll-4 or CSL in mice models results in lethality due to defects in vascular remodeling and angiogenesis (Krebs et al., 2004).

Although Dll4 is mainly expressed on tip cells, it has been shown that stalk cells also express Dll4 in lower levels and could potentially activate Notch receptors on tip cells. It is proposed that another Notch ligand called Jag1, which is strongly expressed on stalk cells, antagonizes the activation of Notch by Dll4 and effectively blocks the signaling from stalk cells back to the tip cells as well as inhibiting over activation of Notch on nearby stalk cells (Benedito et al., 2009).

1.4.3 MAPK pathway:

Mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) are a highly conserved family of serine/ threonine kinases (Cohen, 1997). specialized Mammalian cells express distinct group of MAPKs namely, extracellular signal-related three Jun amino-terminal kinases (JNK1/2/3) kinases (ERK1/2),and p38 MAPK proteins (Chang and Karin, 2001). A number of receptor tyrosine kinases protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), small GTPases and (RTKs), G integrins (McKay activate this pathway and Morrison, 2007; Shaul and can Seger,

2007). Activation of MAPK proteins requires their phosphorylation by an MAPK (MAPKK) such MAPK/ERK upstream kinase as kinase (MEK) which in turn is phosphorylated by a MAPK kinase kinase (MAPKKK) such as members of the Raf family. MAPKs respond to these signals, and through with other signal transduction pathways, cooperation can alter gene expression that ultimately regulate different cell functions such as differentiation, proliferation, development, apoptosis and inflammation One of the inducers of MAPK (Zhang and Dong, 2007). activation is VEGFR2 signaling, which leads to a series of phosphorylation cascades that are essential in regulation of EC motility and proliferation (Pontes-Quero et al., 2019).

ERK1/2:

Extracellular signal-regulated kinase-1 and 2 (ERK1/2),also known as MAPK, are kinases of this family in mammalian p44/p42 the prototypical In response signaling from VEGF, Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK1/2 cells. to are upregulate angiogenic processes including proliferation activated and and migration in EC (Hood et al., 2003; Serban et al., 2008). A study on mice lacking ERK1/2 showed that embryos are viable due to reduced not angiogenesis caused by decreased proliferation and migration in EC isolated from the aorta (Srinivasan et al., 2009). ERK1/2 promotes EC proliferation as well as facilitates anti-inflammatory signals that inhibit the and survival expression of adhesion molecules (Abe Jun-ichi et al., 2000; Tedgui Alain and Mallat Ziad, 2001). ERK1/2 promotes cell proliferation by activating

growth factors such as Elk-1 and Sep-1a in the nucleus, leading to enhanced transcription of growth related proteins such as c-Fos (Marais et al., 1993). Moreover, by regulating the expression of proteins such as Paxillin and focal adhesion kinases that are required for cell migration, ERK1/2 controls EC migration during angiogenesis (Srinivasan et al., 2009).

JNK:

are members of the MAPK family that cJun-N-terminal kinases (JNKs) are of phosphorylating a transcription factor called cJun. Unlike capable ERKs. activated more potently in response cytokines, JNKS are to cellular stress such as hypoxia and glucose deprivation and oxidative stress rather than to mitogens (Chang and Karin, 2001; Hibi et al., 1993). Studies have shown that activated in response physiological stimuli JNKs can also be to such as growth factors and shear stress (Kito et al., 2000; Kyriakis and Avruch, and 2 are ubiquitously expressed whereas JNK3 expression is 2001). JNK1 limited to brain, testis and β cells of pancreas (Solinas and Becattini, 2016). In EC. physiological JNK activation contributes to promotion of proliferation, migration and proteolysis of ECM and angiogenesis (Uchida et al., 2008).

p38:

Stress activated kinase -2 (p38) is a 38-kDa protein of the MAPK family. The p38 kinases are involved in regulation of inflammation, cell growth and differentiation, cell cycle and cell death (Ono and Han, 1999). A study by

Rousseau et al. (1997) indicated p38 MAPK mediates actin organization and cell migration in response to activation of VEGFR2 signaling. p38 is also tumor necrosis factor-a (TNFα) activated in EC by cytokines such as and (IL-1) it promotes the expression of proinflammatory interleukin-1 and cell adhesion molecule-1 molecules such as vascular (VCAM-1) (Surapisitchat et al., 2001). Furthermore, it has been shown that p38 is activated by several growth factors including FGF-2 and negatively regulates cell differentiation during tubular morphogenesis endothelial (Matsumoto et al., 2002). Inhibition of p38 leads to an increase in the formation of blood vessels. although most of these vessels are non-functional (Ono and Han. 1999). А study chick embryo chorioallantoic membrane on (CAM) indicated treating CAMs with p38 MAPK inhibitor in angiogenesis the presence of FGF-2, an angiogenic factor, leads to formation of new blood vessels with partially or entirely closed lumina due to hyperplasia of EC (Matsumoto et al., 2002).

summary, members pathway modulate angiogenic processes In of MAPK in EC in different ways. ERK1/2 is involved in promotion of EC proliferation, survival. JNK is activated in response to cellular stress migration and and hypoxia and promotes angiogenesis by increasing EC proliferation and migration.

1.4.4 FoxO1

Forkhead box O (FoxO) proteins are a group of transcription factors that link cell growth and metabolism (Vander Heiden et al., 2009). They are

downstream effectors the phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase (PI3K)/AKT of inhibited by PI3K signaling pathway. FoxO proteins and the kinase are of AKT, their translocation out of nucleus activity which leads to and inhibition of their action (Salih and Brunet, 2008). FoxO1 is a member of FoxO family that is expressed in high levels in EC. It is critically involved in regulation of vascular growth and coordination of metabolic and proliferative and Burgering, 2013). EC specific deletion of activity of EC (Eijkelenboom FoxO1 in mice results in embryonic lethality at day 10 accompanied with cardiovascular defects (Sengupta et al., 2012). FoxO1 keeps EC in quiescence, inhibits glycolysis mitochondrial respiration and through signaling, which is a driver of anabolic metabolism and suppression of MYC proliferation (Wilhelm et al., 2016). Studies on the subcellular distribution of FoxO1 in postnatal retinas in mice have shown higher nuclear localization in the blood vessel plexus compared to the areas the cells forming that are expanding through angiogenesis require high EC proliferation and (Wilhelm et al., 2016).

1.5 EC Metabolism

A growing body of evidence indicates that EC metabolism can regulate vessel sprouting and tip/stalk cell phenotype (De Bock et al., 2013a; Schoors et al., 2015). EC phenotypes (tip, stalk and phalanx cells) determine energy requirements and therefore metabolic states of cells.

1.5.1 Glycolysis

EC rely heavily on glycolysis compared to other cells in the body (Culic et al.. 1997: Krützfeldt et al., 1990). Glycolysis is especially important in filopodia of the tip cells as they extend into hypoxic tissues and also for rapid revascularization of ischemic tissue given that at increasing distances from a capillary, interstitial levels of O2 drop faster than levels of glucose (De Bock et al., 2013b; Gatenby and Gillies, 2004). Glycolysis is mainly regulated by 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6 enzymes, biphosphatase 3 two (PFKFB3) and Hexokinase 2 (HK2) (Yu et al.. 2017). Regulating the activation of these enzymes is essential in determining the metabolic state of the EC and therefore their phenotype. A study by De Bock et al. (2013) showed that EC-specific deletion of PFKFB3 caused vascular defects. branch points and led to vascular regression diminished the number of in growth factors and mouse retina. А number of signaling pathways are involved in regulating the expression of PFKFB3 and HK2. The biomechanical stimulus of shear stress via expression the of transcription factor Kruppel-like Factor 2 (KLF2) modulates PFKFB3 transcription in EC. In mature EC in resting states, the laminar shear stress generated by the blood PFKB3 flow supresses the expression of through Kruppel-like Factor 2 signaling, the (KLF2) mediated preventing activation of the EC (Doddaballapur Anuradha et al., 2015). As mentioned previously, FoxO1 is also involved in inhibiting glycolysis via suppression of MYC, which results in decreased transcription of HK2 (Wilhelm et al., 2016). Angiogenic growth

factors such as VEGF and FGF are also involved in regulation of glycolysis. VEGF promotes transcription of *PFKFB3* and FGF is known to induce expression of MYC and its downstream target HK2 (Yu et al., 2017).

1.5.2 Fatty Acid Oxidation

Unlike other cells, EC rely on fatty acid oxidation (FAO) for biosynthesis of deoxynucleotides precursors to make (dNTP) rather than energy production (Schoors et al., 2015). dNTP synthesis is required in proliferating stalk cells for biomass synthesis (Vander Heiden et al., 2009). Schoors et al. (2015) studied the function of FAO in proliferation and migration of EC in vitro and vivo by inhibiting a rate controlling enzyme of FAO in called Carnitine palmitoyltrasferase 1a (CPT1a). Their study indicated that inhibiting FAO diminished EC sprouting in vitro and reduced the number of branch points in vivo by selectively inhibiting EC proliferation without affecting the migratory properties of the EC (Schoors et al., 2015).

angiogenesis involves EC proliferation In summary, sprouting and migration and these activities are coordinated through a large array of cell signaling alter EC gene transcription and metabolic activity to pathways that support interest the angiogenic process. My main in the current project the is regulation of angiogenesis as it relates to adipose tissue expansion in the context of obesity related disorders in males and females.

1.6 Adipose Tissue

Adipose tissue acts as a very efficient energy storage in the body. It is involved in storing lipids under conditions of excess energy intake and the

energy dense substrates when needed by other tissues between release of activity, thus effectively regulating meals during physical whole-body or capable of responding metabolism. Adipose tissue is very rapidly and dynamically to increases in nutrient intake through adipocyte hypertrophy or hyperplasia (Galic et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2011; Zore et al., 2018). The first evidence for the role of adipose tissue in controlling whole-body energy homeostasis was presented by Kennedy and Sterling (1953) when they found the presence of a hunger-inhibiting substance secreted by adipose tissue that controlled energy expenditure and food intake through a negative feedback signal. Years later, studies on genetically obese and diabetic mice confirmed the presence of such a factor and eventually in 1994, the gene and its protein product were discovered and called Leptin (Zhang et al., 1994). Leptin is not the only endocrine factor released by adipose tissue, in fact adipose tissue is considered to have a very crucial secretory function as the body's largest endocrine gland (Trayhurn Beattie, 2001). Adiponectin is and another involved in systemic insulin adipocyte specific hormone sensitizing, which (Fang and also has anti-inflammatory properties Judd, 2018). Studies using in mice have demonstrated its role insulin sensitivity as deficiency in resistance adiponectin leads to insulin while over-expression of adiponectin preserves insulin sensitivity even in obese mice (Scheja and Heeren, 2019). adipokines lipokines (lipids) produced Other (peptides) and by adipocytes have systemic effects lipid and glucose homeostasis, energy balance, on inflammation and tissue repair in liver and skeletal muscles, brain and

cells (Lynes et al., 2017; Yore et al., 2014). Additionally, pancreatic beta adipose tissue has very important role in modulating inflammation. а systemic inflammatory Adipocytes regulate local and responses through expression of factors such as TNF- α , IL-6, 8, 10 and TGF- β in the adipose tissue microenvironment (Berg and Scherer, 2005).

At a cellular level, adipose tissue is divided into two major different types: white tissue (WAT) and brown adipose tissue (BAT). adipose In BAT, thermogenesis adipocytes expend energy via and thus maintain body temperature. In humans, brown adipose tissue is more abundant in newborn adults and is located in intrascapular and supraclavicular regions babies than (Sacks and Symonds, 2013). White adipocytes on the other hand are the most abundant type of adipose tissue and are involved in both energy-storing and of adipose tissue (Matsuzawa, 2006). secretory functions White adipose tissue is further classified based on the location of the depot in the body. Visceral adipose tissue (VAT) includes intra-abdominal (mesenteric), pericardial adipose tissue. VAT, specifically perirenal and mesenteric WAT. has been the subject of interest because its accumulation is closely associated metabolic abnormalities with а number of such insulin as resistance (González-Muniesa et al., 2017). However, more than 80% of total body fat is stored in subcutaneous depots including abdominal and gluteal-femoral regions (Lee et al., 2013). Subcutaneous AT has a protective effect against development of insulin resistance and other metabolic complications during weight gain because of its capacity to store excess energy, which prevents

lipid deposition within muscle, liver and visceral fat depots (Hardy et al., 2012). These protective effects are associated with its greater capacity for of acids absorption free fatty and triglycerides, higher preadipocyte smaller adipocyte size smaller number inflammatory differentiation. and of and immune cells compared to VAT (Bruun et al., 2005; Freedland, 2004: Wajchenberg, 2000).

1.6.1 Adipose Tissue Angiogenesis

Healthy expansion of AT is dependent on concomitant remodeling а and expansion of its vascular supply to maintain adequate nutrient and oxygen tissue (Cao, 2013; Nishimura 2009). levels in the et al., Reduced AT angiogenesis leads to tissue inflammation and fibrosis (Halberg et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2014) and has been considered an important contributor to the pathogenesis of dysfunctional AT in obese subjects (Crewe et al., 2017). AT secreting adipokines modulates angiogenesis by several including Leptin, VEGF, FGF-2, TNF- α and TGF- β , which are released by adipocytes as they grow (Cao, 2010; Sierra-Honigmann et al., 1998).

EC the other hand contribute to adipogenesis through interactions on with adipocytes in the AT microenvironment (Rafii and Carmeliet, 2016). EC are capable of producing paracrine growth factors and cytokines such as PPAR-y of adipocytes ligands that promote growth (Gogg et al.; Powell, 2007). there is evidence showing that vascular pericytes Furthermore, and EC are differentiating preadipocytes adipocytes capable of into and (Tang et al., 2008; Tran et al., 2012).

1.6.2 Obesity

Obesity is defined by world health organization as excessive fat accumulation that might impair health and is diagnosed as a body mass index of greater or equal to 30 kg/m² (Prospective Studies Collaboration, 2009). The primary cause of obesity is long term greater caloric consumption vs expenditure. an evolutionary point of view, it is proposed that a genotype that From favours eating more food and retaining more calories that leads to adipose tissue expansion has been selected so that humans and their predecessors survive periods of undernutrition (Yanovski, 2018). In recent could decades overnutrition, and its consequences, has emerged as a bigger health issue than undernutrition especially in developed countries (Blüher, 2019). Some of the conditions such visceral obesity. obesity related as hypertension and hyperglycemia are considered as features of metabolic syndrome, which is a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes (Alberti et al., 2009; Wyatt et al., 2006). The most recent study providing worldwide trends in BMI indicates that obesity prevalence increased in every country between and 2016. With the exception of regions in sub-Saharan Africa 1975 and parts of Asia, more people are obese than are underweight throughout the world (Abarca-Gómez et al., 2017; Yanovski, 2018).

1.6.3 Obesity and Angiogenesis

A number of studies have shown reduced capillary density in adipose tissue of obese humans and animal models, indicating diminished angiogenesis

pathological adipose tissue expansion that occurs during the in obesitv (Gavin et al., 2005; Gealekman et al., 2011; Lash et al., 1989; O'Rourke et Pang et al., 2008; Pasarica et al., 2009; Spencer et al., 2011). The al., 2011: importance of angiogenesis in maintaining the metabolic homeostasis of AT studies where overexpression of VEGF-A significantly has been explored in and undesirable increased white AT vascularization prevented obesity-related metabolic effects such as insulin resistance (Gupta et al., 2012; Park et al., 2017; Zhao et al., 2018). Studies in rodents have shown that, under persistent metabolic challenge of chronic high fat diet (HFD), the capacity to form new blood vessels is poor although the demand for oxygen is great (Lijnen et al., 2006). Chronic HFD leads to decreased levels of VEGF in adipose tissue of obese mice humans (Pasarica et al., 2009). Furthermore, unresolved and inflammation during chronic obesity, marked by adipocyte death due to their increased size beyond physiological limits, leads pro-inflammatory to signaling that leads to oxidative damage to other cells including EC in obese adipose tissue (Furukawa et al., 2004).

density observed in adipose tissue in obesity Overall, the reduced capillary adipocyte dysfunction thus inflammation and diminishes causes and the capacity of the adipose tissue to store excess calories in the form of triglycerides leading to ectopic lipid deposition into muscle and liver. This in obesity-related complications such as tissue inflammation, turn causes insulin resistance and metabolic disorders associated with it (Corvera and

Gealekman, 2014; Hardy et al., 2012; McLaughlin et al., 2011; Virtue and Vidal-Puig, 2010).

1.7 Sex Differences in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders

Nearly all aspects of metabolism such as energy balance, glucose and lipid in a regulated sexually dimorphic manner (Fatima metabolism are et al., 2017). In animal models it has been shown that females have more brown adipose tissue than males which is more metabolically active than white al., adipose tissue (Rodríguez-Cuenca et 2002). This leads to higher contribution of fat mass to resting metabolic rate in females compared to males (Nookaew et al., 2013).

In humans, females are at greater risk of obesity compared to males because of an increased tendency to gain fat. However, females can tolerate higher levels of body fat as they have lower amount of abdominal adipose tissue (Kelly et al., 2008). It is very well established that women store more adipose tissue in subcutaneous fat depots in contrast to the preferential visceral deposition in men (Enzi et al., 1986). Although, females have more adipose tissue mass and more circulating free fatty acid (FFA) compared to males, they are as sensitive to insulin as males and are more resistant to FFAinduced insulin resistance (Frias al., 2001). Additionally, et females have higher insulin sensitivity and glucose uptake within greater skeletal muscle compared to males when they are matched for physical fitness based on their (Nuutila al., 1995). These sex-based differences VO₂ max et manifest

themselves on the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders such as diabetes and obesity (Mauvais-Jarvis, 2015).

A study in our lab showed that female mice have higher vascularity and a more pro-angiogenic environment in their visceral adipose tissue compared to vascular density in high fat diet. This increased males in response to a adipose tissue was associated with preservation of adipose tissue function and insulin sensitivity (Rudnicki et al., 2018). Observed sex differences in obesity and metabolic disorders could be the result of differential effects of sex hormones in males and females. Alternatively, it could be due to genetic arising from male and female chromosomes. These differences the sex possible mechanisms for sex-related metabolic differences will be discussed below.

1.7.1 Sex Hormones in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders

The most widely studied cause of sex-related difference in males and females context of metabolic disorders is the influence of gonadal hormones. in the Studies and post-menopausal women have comparing predemonstrated the role of reduced levels of the female sex hormone estradiol (E2) on metabolic changes related to this transition (Carr, 2003). Studies have demonstrated disease (CVD) increased risk of cardiovascular in post-menopausal women compared to pre-menopausal women (Gohlke-Bärwolf, 2000). The loss of is also related increased estrogen with menopause to visceral obesity (Garaulet et al., 2002). Moreover, the incidence of metabolic syndrome and

disorders such as insulin resistance, hypertension and diabetes its related al., 2012; with menopause (Everette and Zajacova, 2015; Lima increase et Estrogens protect against body adiposity through suppression of Lobo, 2008). increasing energy expenditure (Asarian and Geary, appetite and 2002; Clegg 2006). There is evidence for regulation of adipose tissue angiogenesis et al.. by activation of estrogen receptor 1 (ESR1) signaling. A study conducted by Deborah Clegg's group indicated that VEGF-A expression is regulated by E2 action and that selective knockdown of ESR1 in adipocytes decreased VEGF expression in adipose tissue of the female mice (Fatima et al., 2017). No study, however, has yet directly assessed vascular density as a function of E2 levels.

Similarly, low serum testosterone and late-onset hypogonadism in males have cardiovascular been associated with abdominal obesity, disease, the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes (Araujo et al., 2011; Blouin et al., 2008). Testosterone is believed to stimulate lipolysis, decrease lipogenesis β-oxidation (Kelly 2015). and enhance and Jones, Reductions in total testosterone levels in overweight and moderately obese men could be а consequence of decreased sex hormone binding globulin (SHBG) caused by obesity-related hyperinsulinemia and not the free testosterone (Bhasin et al., 2010). SHBG is a glycoprotein with high affinity for testosterone and E2 and is involved in transport of these sex hormones in plasma (Selby, 1990). In cases of severe obesity, however, free testosterone levels are decreased. This decrease in free testosterone level is a result of production of aromatase from

insulin-resistant adipose tissue, which converts inflamed, testosterone to estradiol (E2) (Boer et al., 2005). Estradiol acts on the hypothalamo-pituitary signal axis as а negative feedback and subsequently supresses gonadal release. Therefore, obesity lowers further testosterone testosterone and induces adiposity (Cohen, 1997).

Adipose tissue distribution is affected by both androgens and estrogens. activity inhibits the of lipoprotein lipase in the Testosterone subcutaneous depot in men, which gives rise to abdominal adiposity and the apple shape body type in overweight and obese males (Kelly and Jones, 2015). E2 on the other hand. enhances the activity of lipoprotein lipase in subcutaneous fat depots. This helps storing excess energy in subcutaneous depots that leads to the pear shaped body type in overweight and obese females (Arner et al., 1991; Ramirez et al., 1997).

1.7.2 The Genetic Basis for Sex Differences in Obesity and Metabolic Disorders

difference between males and females Any biological results from the presence of male and female sex chromosomes, which in turn determine the hormones produced (Link and and levels of sex Reue, 2017). types Sex themselves be contributors sex-related differences chromosomes can to in and Reue, 2017). Studies on individuals with metabolic characteristics (Link different effects chromosome anomalies have shown the of having sex some metabolic related irregular number of sex chromosomes on disorders. For instance, men with Klinefelter syndrome (XXY) have an almost five-fold higher developing metabolic syndrome (Bojesen incidence of et al., 2006).
However, distinguishing the influence of other side effects of having these conditions on metabolic disorders from the sex chromosome number itself is difficult (Gravholt, 2004; Hagen et al., 2010). One approach to look at the effect of sex chromosomes on different biological processes at a cellular level independent of sex hormones is studying early embryonic growth prior to the development of gonads and their hormones. For instance, in most mammals, early male embryos are larger than female embryos (Bukowski et al., 2007: Burgoyne, 1993; Burgoyne et al., 1995). One model that has been used extensively to study the effect of sex chromosomes separately from the sex hormones is the Four Core Genotypes (FCG). In this model, mice with male gonads are generated which contain XX chromosomes and mice with female gonads have XY chromosomes. Using this approach, traits are compared and the influence of sex chromosomes or gonadal hormones on these traits are evaluated. In C57BL/6 FCG mice that were gonadectomized before the any effects of circulating sex hormones, experiment to remove XX mice consumed more food and gained more weight and accumulated more adipose tissue in subcutaneous depots compared to XY mice (Chen et al.. 2015). mice developed obesity-related conditions such Moreover, XX as fatty liver. elevated insulin levels (Chen et al., 2012). Furthermore, studies with the FCG dosage mouse model indicated the effects of X chromosome on cholesterol levels. Basal levels of HDL in XX mice fed a chow diet were higher than in XY mice whereas LDL levels not affected by chromosome were complement. By contrast, triglyceride and free fatty acid levels were higher in the mice with male gonads compared to females regardless of their sex al., 2012). chromosome complement (Chen et Based on these results. sex been identified chromosome complement has as а factor responsible for observed differences in obesity and metabolism sex (Chen et al., 2012). metabolic differences between males females well-Although and are established, whether regulation of adipose angiogenesis contributes to these differences is not known.

1.7.3 Male and Female Endothelial Cells

In recent years, a number of studies have investigated the inherent sex-related differences in EC independent of the effects of E2. Studies on human umbilical vein EC (HUVEC) have shown higher levels of prostacyclin and prostaglandin E2 synthesis in response to thrombin in males compared to which could contribute females to higher rates of atherosclerosis and thrombosis in males (Batres and Dupont, 1986). Other studies have shown capacity, transcription of pro-angiogenic higher migratory genes in response expression of endothelial nitric oxide shear stress, synthase (eNOS), cell to viability after 20 hours of serum starvation and tube formation capacity in female HUVEC compared to males (Addis et al., 2014; Cattaneo et al., 2017; al., 2015). Vanetti et al. (2017) illustrated some of the metabolic Lorenz et differences of male and female HUVEC in terms of substrate utilization. observed higher inhibition Using EC spheroids, they of sprouting in male

cells compared to female ones when cultured in media stripped of all fatty higher dependence of male EC acids. indicating on free fatty acids for angiogenesis compared to females. proliferation and in vitro The underlying mechanisms for these observed differences in male and female EC are yet to be identified could possibly explained by differences and be in key intracellular signaling and metabolic pathways, such as PFKFB3 expression which glycolytic known regulate angiogenic behaviour. and rate, are to data differences of male Overall. there are little on and female signaling pathways and metabolic functions that cause differences in angiogenic may capacity of EC. There are still obvious gaps in knowledge on this topic that should be studied further. А logical hypothesis is that sexual dimorphism in angiogenesis of adipose tissue is differences observed caused by in angiogenic capacity of male and female EC.

1.8 Study Rationale

It is well established that expansion of adipose tissue in males is associated higher incidence and severity of obesity-related disorders with compared to females (Logue et al., 2011; Steinarsson et al., 2018; Tchernof and Després, 2013). In line with this, rodent studies using obese mice have shown the same trend of developing cardiometabolic disorders with lower BMI in males compared to females (Macotela et al., 2009; Medrikova al., 2012). et Diminished adipose tissue vascularization has been indicated the as one of

pathogenesis dysfunctional adipose tissue, which contributors to of causes complications such obesity-related cardiometabolic insulin resistance as and type II diabetes (Crewe et al., 2017). A recent study from our lab examined the differences in visceral AT angiogenesis of high fat fed obese male and mice. This study provided evidence for higher AT female visceral vascularization in females and reduced visceral AT vascularization in males compared indicating normal chow fed mice, the maintenance of to females diminished angiogenesis angiogenesis in obese but in obese males white AT. (Rudnicki et al., 2018). This points to sex-related differences in angiogenesis of AT; however, the mechanisms are not known. It is estradiol (E2), enhances the angiogenic established that female sex hormone, activity of EC (Fatima et al., 2017; Geraldes et al., 2002; Morales et al., 1995; Zhao et al., 2008), however, a number of studies have indicated that EC themselves show sex specific differences independent of E2 (Addis et al., 2014; Cattaneo et al., 2017; Huxley et al., 2018; Lorenz et al., 2015; Vanetti Most 2016. 2017). of these studies were conducted et al.. in vitro with HUVEC and there is no knowledge about the sex-related differences of association with the observed visceral AT EC and its higher angiogenic visceral AT of female mice. My thesis will response in fill this gap in knowledge by examining sex-specific differences in angiogenic characteristics of visceral AT EC in mice. Studying these differences might contribute to a better knowledge of the role of EC in the sexual dimorphism observed in physiology and pathophysiology of the cardiometabolic system.

1.9 Hypothesis

There are differences in male and female EC angiogenic capacity, and these variations are the results of intrinsic differences in pathways controlling proliferation, migration and metabolism.

1.10 Study Objectives

1- To compare angiogenic capacity of male and female EC, including expression levels of angiogenic pathway proteins as well as proliferation, migration and sprouting capacity.

2- To test the involvement of MAPK, FoxO1 and Notch pathways in controlling proliferation and migration of male and female EC.

Chapter 2 Methods

2.1 Ethical approval

Animal studies were approved by York University Committee on Animal Care and performed in accordance with the Canadian Council for Animal Care Guidelines.

2.2 Cells

Male and female microvascular EC were isolated from VAT of male and female C57BL/6 mice. White VAT was extracted and pooled from each sex digested with 0.5% Type I collagenase (#17100-017, ThermoFisher and Scientific, USA) for 20 minutes at 37 °C with shaking. Adipocytes were separated from the stromal vascular fraction (SVF) by centrifugation (300xg for 5 min) and the SVF was resuspended and passed through a cell strainer (100µm) and then incubated with biotinylated rat anti-mouse CD31 antibodycoated streptavidin (BD IMag, USA) -coupled Dynabeads (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA). Isolated EC plated gelatin-coated plates were on and maintained in high glucose (4.5 g/L) DMEM (#11960069, Gibco, USA), 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin 10,000µg/mL (#15140122, USA). 1% Gibco, GlutaMAXTM L-glutamine 200mM (#35050061, Gibco, USA), 1% Sodium (#11360070, Pyruvate 100mM Gibco, USA) and 20% FBS (#10082-147, 1913800, Gibco, USA). The FBS lot used contains estradiol (40.5 Lot#

pg/mL), Progesterone (<0.05 ng/mL) and Testosterone (<0.10 ng/mL). Cells used for experiments were between passages 2-4.

2.3 Adipose tissue Ex-Vivo Sprouting Assay

Small pieces of visceral AT were extracted from 10 weeks old C57BL/6 male and female mice and were cut in ~1mm² washed with PBS and kept in DMEM at room temperature. Explants were embedded in 3mg/ml type I rat (A1048301, Gibco, USA). 50µL of collagen neutralized with tail collagen NaOH 5N was added to each well in a 96 well plate and incubated for 1 hour in 37°C polymerize. Explants were treated with 50ng/ml human to recombinant VEGF 121 (R and D systems, MN, USA) and allowed to grow for 1 week. The explants were fixed with 3.7% paraformaldehyde and stained alkaline phosphatase substrate SIGMAFASTTM for imaging using BCIP®/ NBT according to the kit instructions (B5655, Sigma, MO, USA). Images of whole explants were taken using a stereo microscope. The sprouting areas were calculated by subtracting the explant area from the total sprouting area in ImageJ software. Integral density of explant was calculated by subtracting the integral density of explants from the total integral density of sprouting front in ImageJ software.

2.4 RNA extraction

10-15 mg of frozen visceral white adipose tissue was homogenized in Qiazol buffer (Qiagen, ON, Canada) using the Retsch MM400 tissue lyser. Total

RNA was purified using RNeasy Mini Kit for Adipose (74104, Qiagen, ON, Canada) as per the manufacturer's instructions.

2.5 q-RT PCR

For each sample, 190 ng of RNA was reversed transcribed to cDNA in a two-PCR reaction on a Thermal cycler (2720 cycler, Applied Biosystems, step (#N0447S, New CA. USA) using [dNTP England Bioabs, ON, Canada), Invitrogen, CA, USA), Oligo DT (#100002344 Ribolock RNase inhibitor (#EO038, Scientific, USA), Thermo Fisher MA, Random hexamers (#100026484, Invitrogen, CA, USA), M-MuLV reverse transcriptase and buffer (New England BioLabs, ON, Canada)]. The cDNA was diluted in 40 µl of RNase free water. 2 µl of cDNA was combined with Taqman® Fast Advanced Master Mix (#4444557, Applied Biosystems, Thermo Fisher Scientific, CA, USA) and TaqMan® FAM-Labelled probe sets for murine (Mm00446968-m1), Kdr (Mm01222421-m1), Pecaml *Hprt1* (Mm00476712m1), *Vegfa* (Mm00437306-m1). q-RT PCR was performed using the PCR cycler Rotor-Gene Q system (Qiagen, ON Canada) in the following thermal conditions: 60 °C for 30 minutes, 95 °C for 10 minutes for 40 cycles. determine Samples were assessed in duplicate. To the relative amount of mRNA, the average cycle threshold (CT) was target sample calculated and (housekeeping gene) compared to the average CT of Hprt1 for the same samples with the formula ΔCT = Average CT (gene of interest)-Average CT (housekeeping gene). The amount of target gene amplification relative to the control was calculated using the formula $2^{\Delta CT}$.

2.6 Protein extraction

EC were plated in high glucose DMEM at 70-80% confluency and incubated with or without treatments (FoxO1 inhibitor: AS1842856 overnight (10 μM) MAPK inhibitor: SB203580 (10 μ M)). Protein was extracted the and p38 following day using RIPA (50mM Tris base, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS) containing dissolved **PhosSTOPTM** and cOmpleteTM Protease Inhibitor Cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich, USA).

2.7 Protein quantification

Protein extracts were quantified by bicinchoninic acid assay (BCA) (Pierce, Fisher Thermoscientific, ON, Canada). Pure protein lysates were loaded in triplicates on 96 well plates with working reagent and compared to a standard curve using serial dilutions of bovine serum albumin (BSA: 0-2000µg/ml, Pierce, Thermo Fischer scientific, ON, Canada). Sample absorbance at 562nm measured using the Cytation3 microplate reader (BioTek, was Vermont, USA).

2.8 Western Blot

Western blots were done using 15-30 µg of total protein per sample prepared 4X dithiothreitol (DTT) loading buffer containing 0.72M in βmercaptoethanol, 69.4mM sodium dodecyl sulfate, 32% glycerol, 14.29 μM bromophenol blue, 62.4 mM Tris pH 6.8, and RIPA lysis buffer as a diluent. Samples were heated at 99° C for 5 minutes, centrifuged, and placed on ice. The prepared lysates were loaded (15-30 µg per lane) and separated by

electrophoresis through 8%, 10% 12% SDS-Polyacrylamide gels under or conditions. polyvinylidene reducing Proteins were transferred to а difluoride P, EMD Millipore, ON, (PVDF) membrane (Immobilon Canada) using wet varying durations, higher molecular weights for around transfer at 100V for weights for 90 minutes lower molecular 60 minutes. Membranes and were hour with 5% milk in a 0.05% blocked for one Tween Tris-buffered saline (TTBS). membranes were primary solution After blocking, incubated with Phospho-Akt-ser473 (1:1000; #4058, Cell Signaling, antibodies ON, Canada), Akt (1:1000;#9272, Cell Signaling), Phospho-p38 Thr180/Tyr182 #9211, Cell Signaling), p38 (1:1000; #9212, Cell Signaling), (1:1000;αβ-#2148, Tubulin (1:1000;Cell Signaling) and β-Actin (1:1000;#4967, Cell Signaling), Phospho-SAPK/JNK Thr183/Tyr185 (1:1000;#9251, Cell (1:1000; Cell Signaling), Signaling), SAPK/JNK #9252, Phospho-p44/42 Thr202/Tyr204 MAPK (Erk1/2)(1:1000;#4377, Cell Signaling), p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2)(1:1000;#4695, Cell Signaling), Phospho-FoxO1-ser256 (1:1000;Cell Signaling), FoxO1 (1:1000;#2880, Cell #9461, Signaling), Hexokinase II (1:1000;#2867T, Cell Signaling), PFKFB3 (1:1000;#13123S, 5% BSA (Bioshop, Canada Inc, ON, Canada) in 0.05% Cell Signaling) in overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed with TTBS and TTBS incubated with secondary antibodies [goat anti-rabbit IgG-horseradish peroxidase (#111-035-003, ImmunoResearch Laboratories 5% Jackson Inc.. USA) in BSA for 1 hour at temperature. For experiments measuring room phosphorylated protein and total protein on the same membrane, a membrane

stripping method using 0.7% β-mercaptoethanol at 50 ° C for 8 minutes was used and then the membranes were washed for 1 hour in TTBS and blocked The and incubated in the antibody as described above. antibodies were detected enhanced chemiluminescence (Pierce, Fisher Thermoscientific, by ON. using Microchemi DNA Yamin. Canada) **Bio-imaging** system (Neve Israel). Blots were quantified and analyzed using Image J software.

2.9 Proliferation assay

Male and female EC were plated in 96 well plates at a density of 8×10^3 per well. To assess the effect of pathway inhibition on cell proliferation, EC were inhibitor incubated overnight with Notch (10µM DAPT #2634. Tocris, Bristol. p38-MAPK inhibitor (10)SB203580, UK), μM #1202, Tocris, Bristol, UK), ESR1 inhibitor (10µM MPP dihydrochloride hydrate, M7068, Sigma, USA), PFKFB3 inhibitor (10 μM 3PO. #525330, MO, EMD MA, USA) FoxO1 inhibitor AS1842856, Millipore, and (1µM #344355, Millipore, MA, USA) were used. 1µL of DMSO (D2650, Sigma, MO, EMD USA) was used as the vehicle control. The following day, EC were incubated 10µM of EdU provided in Click-iT with EdU Imaging Kits (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) for 4 hours. To generate confluent cells, EC were plated in 96 well plate at a density of 8×10^3 per well and incubated for 3 days without treatment for cells to reach confluency and then underwent treatment as described above. Cells were fixed using provided reagent in the kit and Click reaction was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions for visualizing the proliferating cells with Alexa Fluor488 Azide conjugated with

EdU incorporated into DNA. All cell nuclei were stained with DAPI (D3571, OR, USA). Imaging and counting were performed Molecular probes. using High-Content Screening (HCS) Platform CellInsight CX7 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The number of EdU-positive and number of DAPI-positive and the percentage of proliferating cells cells were counted separately, was expressed as (EdU/ DAPI) x 100.

2.10 Migration assay

Cells were plated at a density of 10⁴ cells/well in a collagen I coated OrisTM 96 well plate with OrisTM Cell Seeding Stoppers (Platypus Technologies, WI, USA) inserted to create a cell-free zone in the middle of each well. After incubated allowing cells to attach. they were overnight with different inhibitors for each well (DAPT, SB203580 AS184285 described and as above). 500ng/ml of Mitomycin C (Tocris, Bristol, UK) was added to each well to stop cell proliferation. The following day the stoppers were removed, and the cells were allowed to migrate into the cell-free zone for 24 hours and then were fixed with 3.7% paraformaldehyde. Cells were then stained with Alexa Fluor[™] 488 Phalloidin (P5282, Sigma, MO, USA) and imaged using High-Content Screening (HCS) Platform CellInsight CX7 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Reference cell-free determined wells area was from that were fixed immediately after removal of stoppers (Fig 2-1). Each well's cell compared to the reference area after 24 hours of incubation free area was Image with different treatments. Cell migration was measured using J

software as the area fraction percentage of reference cell free zone covered by migrating cells.



Figure 2-1: <u>Migration assay</u>. Schematic depicting the steps for measuring the migration of EC into the cell free zone (Created with BioRender).

2.11 Statistical Analysis

Results Mean S.E.M. Adipose are presented as \pm tissue explants, adipose EC migration tissue mRNA expression, baseline and proliferation and analyzed using unpaired baseline protein levels were student's t-test. Protein level measurements with treatments (VEGF, FoxO1 inhibitor) and proliferation with both p38 MAPK FoxO1 inhibitors assays and were analyzed two-way ANOVA. Migration proliferation using and assays using inhibitors were analyzed by repeated measures ANOVA. Post hoc analyses multiple were performed using Sidak's comparisons test (Prism8; Graphpad software Inc; La Jolla, CA, USA). In all cases, p considered < 0.05 was statistically significant.

Chapter 3 Results

3.1 Distinct sprouting capacity of male and female adipose tissue ex-vivo:

То compare the angiogenic capacity of male and female visceral AT, a performed using adipose tissue explants sprouting assay was embedded in type I collagen and treated with VEGF for 7 days (Fig 3-1A-D). In line with previous study, which indicated higher AT angiogenesis in females our (Rudnicki et al., 2018), explants from AT of females were more successful in initiating sprouting compared to males (83.3%) 50%) (Fig 3-1E). VS Surprisingly, male explants successful in sprouting had a higher density of cells and a larger area of sprouting (Fig 3-1F, G). The higher density of sprouting may be due to higher EC proliferation and the larger area could be a result of higher proliferation and/or migration of EC.











Figure 3-1: <u>Distinct sprouting patterns in male and female adipose explants.</u> Representative images of male (A, C) and female (B, D) explants. The red lines encircle the explant area and the blue lines indicate the sprouting area. E) Sprouting success of male and female explants. F) Density of cells within the sprouting area of explants G) Sprouting area of male and female explants in mm². Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test. Mean +/-S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 (n=6 for males and 12 for females).

3.2 Similar AT vascularization and angiogenic environment in male and female mice

Baseline differences in EC content and angiogenic environment of male and female AT could have an effect on the rate of sprouting from the explants. To examine this, gene expression analysis was performed on AT of the same 10 weeks old male and female C57/BL6J mice that were used for the explant sprouting assay. mRNA expression for EC markers *Pecam1* and *Vwf* showed

no significant difference between males and females, suggesting no disparity in EC content of visceral AT in these mice (Fig 3-2A and B). In line with this, mRNA expression of the main VEGF receptor, *Kdr*, was not different in AT of males and females (Fig 3-2C). Similarly, mRNA expression of a major angiogenic factor, *Vegfa*, was not significantly different in AT of males and females (Fig 3-2D).



Figure 3-2 : <u>Similar mRNA expression of endothelial markers and angiogenic related</u> genes in male and female visceral AT. (A-D) Visceral white AT gene expression analysis by qPCR and presented relative to the housekeeping gene *Hprt1*. Data were analyzed using unpaired student t-tests. Mean +/-S.E.M. (n=7-8).

3.3 Male and female EC migration

Sex-specific differences in EC migration may explain the observed higher sprouting density and area of AT explants from males. To examine if there were any differences in EC migration between males and females, а migration assay was performed. Male and female EC without any treatment significant difference in their migration after 24 hours, with EC showed no from males covering 20% and females covering 24% of the cell-free zone (Fig 3-3A-D). However, the results of this assay were inconclusive because of high variability due to poor cell adhesion to the plate.



Figure 3-3: <u>Migration of male vs female EC.</u> (A, B) Representative images of male and female EC and (C) Representative image from the reference well. The cell free area indicated inside the

red circle is used as a reference. (**D**) Area fraction of EC migrated into the cell free zone. 500 m/ml of Mitomycin C was added to all wells including control wells to inhibit proliferation of EC. Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test (n= 3).

3.4 Higher *in vitro* female EC proliferation compared to males

proliferation We hypothesized that sex-related differences in EC may be а initial successful growth of female explants and contributor to the higher in vivo observed previously. I initially angiogenesis in females tried measuring EC proliferation CyQuantTM using the assay, which measures the DNA content of cells. The CyQuant assay failed to produce consistent results from one experiment to another. Due to these issues, another proliferation assay measuring the percentage of cells incorporating EdU which was used, allowed me to count the number of proliferating cells as a proportion of the total number of cells (Fig 3-4A, B). My results indicated significantly higher proliferation in female EC compared to males when EC were plated at a low density (21% vs 16% of cells incorporated EdU) (Fig 3-4C). Proliferation of EC in confluent plates showed lower EC proliferation compared to EC in low density in both sexes as expected (Fig 3-4E). Under both conditions, female EC were proliferating at a higher rate compared to males (Fig 3-4D).



Figure 3-4: <u>Proliferation of male vs female EC.</u> Representative images of proliferation assays with EdU-positive cells (green Alexa Fluor 488), indicated with a white arrow) in (A) males (MEC) and (B) females (FEC). All cells were stained with DAPI (blue). Proliferation of EC after 4 hours of EdU incubation expressed as percent EdU positive in low density (C) and confluent (D) EC. (E) Comparison of % EdU positive cells in male and female confluent and low-density male and female EC. Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test(C,D) and two-way ANOVA (E). Mean +/-S.E.M. *p<0.05 (n=4-6).

3.5 Higher phosphorylation levels of p38 MAPK in females EC compared to males

Next, I examined the signaling pathways that affect angiogenic capacity of EC to see if they differ in male and female EC when cultured at high density. Since the MAPK pathways are involved in modulation of EC proliferation baseline protein phosphorylation of MAPK migration, I measured and the members in cultured EC extracted from visceral AT. Female EC had levels significantly higher p38 MAPK phosphorylation compared males to (Fig 3-5A). There were no significant differences in basal phosphorylation levels of ERK1/2 or JNK (Fig 3-5B and C).



Figure 3-5: <u>Phosphorylation levels of MAPK pathway in male vs female EC.</u> Representative western blots and protein quantification of (A) p-p38 MAPK-Thr180/Tyr182 and total p38; (B) p-ERK-Thr202/Tyr204 and total ERK; and (C) p-SAPK/JNK-Thr183/Tyr185 and total JNK in male (MEC) and female (FEC) cells. Results are expressed as phosphorylated protein over total protein. Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test. Mean +/-S.E.M. *p<0.05 (n=3-4).

Since	VEGFA	A activates	MAI	PK pa	athways	s as	well	as	Akt	in	EC,	the	effect	t of
VEGFA	on	activation	of	MAP	K m	ember	rs an	ıd	Akt	was	ex	amine	ed. I	Basal
levels	of	phosphoryla	tion	of	Akt	wei	re n	not	diff	erent	be	etwee	n s	exes.
Surprisi	ngly,	VEGFA	did	not	pho	osphor	rylate	A	Akt	in	EC	(F	ig	6A).
Further	more,	phosphoryla	tion	levels	of	p38	and	EF	RK1/2,	, bo	oth	of v	vhich	are

also downstream of VEGFR2 signaling pathway, were not significantly affected by VEGFA treatment (Fig 3-6B and C).



Figure 3-6: Phosphorylation levels of AKT and MAPK in male vs female EC in response to <u>VEGFA treatment</u>. Representative western blots and protein quantifications of (A) p-AKT-Ser 473 and total AKT; (B) p-ERK-Thr202/Tyr204 and total ERK; and (C) p-p38 MAPK-Thr180/Tyr182 and total p38 in males (M) and females (F). EC were serum starved for 2 hours and then treated with 50ng/ ml VEGF for 10 and 30 minutes. Results are expressed as phosphorylated protein over total protein. Data analyzed using two-way ANOVA, testing main effects of Sex (S) and Treatment (T). Mean +/-S.E.M. (n=5).

3.6 Higher FoxO1 protein level in female EC compared to males

FoxO1 inhibits proliferation by decreasing metabolic rate and inhibiting cell cycle progression in EC (De Bock et al., 2013b; Wilhelm et al., 2016). Since FoxO1 maintains the quiescent state of EC, based on our in vivo and ex vivo we expected to detect higher FoxO1 results, levels in males. Surprisingly, protein levels of total FoxO1 were higher in female EC compared to males 3-7A). Phosphorylation state of FoxO1 when cultured at high density (Fig affects its activity and protein level. Phosphorylation of PI3K/ AKT pathway leads to FoxO1 phosphorylation and as a result FoxO1 is deported from ubiquitination nucleus and is targeted for degradation. Our results and indicated that phosphorylation levels of FoxO1 and Akt were not different in male and female EC (Fig 3-7 B, C).



Figure 3-7: <u>Protein levels of FoxO1, p-FoxO1 and pAKT in male vs female EC.</u> Representative western blots and protein quantification of (A) FoxO1 and $\alpha\beta$ -Tubulin (B) and p-FoxO1-Ser 256 and total FoxO1 (C) p-Akt-Ser 473 and total Akt in males (MEC) and females (FEC). Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test. Mean +/-S.E.M. **p<0.01 (n=4).

3.7 Glycolytic protein levels in male and female EC

Glycolysis is a major modulator of EC proliferation and migration (De Bock et al., 2013b). Baseline protein levels of important glycolytic enzymes, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), hexokinase 2 (HK2) 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 3 (PFKFB3) and were in EC cultivated high density. significant differences measured at No in protein levels were observed between male and female baseline EC (Fig 3-There was, however, a trend for higher levels of PFKFB3 8A, B and C). in female EC, which was observed consistently in each experiment.



Figure 3-8: <u>Protein levels of GAPDH, HK2 and PFKFB3 in male vs female EC.</u> Representative western blots and protein quantification of (A) GAPDH and $\alpha\beta$ -Tubulin; (B) HK2 and $\alpha\beta$ -Tubulin; and, (C) PFKFB3 and β -actin in males (MEC) and females (FEC). Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test. Mean +/-S.E.M. (n=3-6).

Since the protein level of FoxO1 was significantly higher in female EC compared to males, and FoxO1 is a known modulator of glycolysis in EC (Wilhelm et al., 2016), we analyzed the effect of inhibition of FoxO1 on protein levels of HK2 and PFKFB3. Inhibition of FoxO1 did not significantly change the protein levels of either of these proteins (Fig 9A and B).



Figure 3-9: Effect of FoxO1 inhibition on protein levels of HK2 and PFKFB3 in male vs female EC. Representative western blots and protein quantification of control and with FoxO1 inhibition (AS1842856-1 μ M) (A) HK2 and $\alpha\beta$ -Tubulin and (B) PFKFB3 and β -Actin in males (MEC) and females (FEC). Data analyzed using two-way ANOVA. Mean +/-S.E.M. (n=3).

3.8 Function of angiogenic pathways in male and female EC migration

The effects of p38 MAPK, Notch and FoxO1 inhibition on migration were examined (Fig 3-10D-L). There was a trend for increased migration in male EC with inhibition of Notch (Fig 3-10I) which is consistent with an inhibitory Notch signaling migration of EC (Phng and Gerhardt, role of on 2009). Furthermore. there was a trend for decreased migration with inhibition of FoxO1 (Fig 3-10L), which is consistent with the reported role of FoxO1 in modulating polarity and the evidence for impaired EC migration and sprouting with inhibition of FoxO1 (Kim et al., 2019).



Figure 3-10: <u>Contribution of cell signaling pathways to migration of male vs female EC.</u> Representative images of male and female EC in (**A**, **B**) Control or under treatment with (**D**, **E**) p38 MAPK inhibitor (SB203580-10 μ M); (**G**, **H**) Notch inhibitor (DAPT-10 μ M); or, (**J**, **K**) FoxO1 inhibitor (AS1842856-1 μ M). (**C**) Representative image from the reference well fixed immediately

after removing the stopper. The cell free area indicated inside the red circle is used as a reference for wells with cell migration. Area fraction percentage of male and female EC migrated into the cell free zone under treatment with (F) p38 MAPK inhibitor (SB203580-10 μ M); (I) Notch inhibitor (DAPT-10 μ M); and (L) FoxO1 inhibitor (AS1842856-1 μ M). Data analyzed using unpaired student t-test and repeated measures ANOVA (n= 3).

3.9 Function of angiogenic pathways in male and female EC proliferation

function of Cell density could affect the some signaling pathways. For cell-cell induce anti-proliferative cell example, contacts signals leading to quiescence in mechanism referred to as contact inhibition а (Eagle and Leviene, 1967). As an effector of the PI3K/AKT pathway, FoxO1 is involved inducing endothelial quiescence (Wilhelm et al., 2016). p38 in MAPK has also been shown to be involved in the signaling cascade of contact inhibition the involvement of signaling (Faust et al.. 2005). To assess pathways at different cell confluency, plates were seeded at high and low cell density and the effects of inhibition of these pathways on EC proliferation was measured.

3.9.1 Low density EC

MAPK proliferation (main effect: p38 inhibition increased p=0.004). Post hoc comparisons indicated a significant effect of the inhibition of MAPK in increasing proliferation only in male EC (Fig 3-11A). Neither FoxO1 nor Notch inhibition altered proliferation in male and female EC (Fig 3-11B, C). Estradiol signaling is known to induce EC proliferation (Zhao et al., 2008) in line with this, inhibition of ESR1 significantly decreased proliferation and in both sexes. There was, however, no significant difference in proliferation between male and female EC with inhibition of ESR1 (Fig 3-11D). Inhibition of PFKFB3 significantly decreased proliferation the glycolytic enzyme in

males but not females and thus PFKFB3 inhibition exaggerated the difference in proliferation between male and female EC (Fig 3-11E). Mitomycin C, a potent inhibitor of proliferation was used as a control in the proliferation assay and significantly inhibited the proliferation of EC (Fig 3-11F).



Figure 3-11: <u>Signaling pathways contribution to the proliferation of sub-confluent male</u> and female EC: Proliferation assay results in male and female EC with inhibition of (A) p38 MAPK (SB203580-10 μ M); (B) FoxO1 (AS1842856-1 μ M); (C) Notch (DAPT-10 μ M); (D) PFKFB3 (3po-10 μ M); (E) ESR1 (MPP dihydrochloride-10 μ M); and treatment with Mitomycin C (500ng/ml) (F). Data analyzed using repeated measures ANOVA. Main effects are Sex (S) and Treatment (T). Mean +/-S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 ***p<0.001 (n=4-6).

3.9.2 Confluent EC

Male and female confluent EC showed significantly lower proliferation compared to low density cells, consistent with contact inhibition (Fig 3-12A). Proliferation rates at high confluency were higher in female EC compared to difference (p=0.07)which consistent with sex-related males was in proliferation observed in low density EC (Fig 3-12B). Inhibition of p38 MAPK increased proliferation independent of EC sex (p=0.04). (Fig 3-12C). Inhibition of FoxO1 significantly increased proliferation in both male and female confluent EC (Fig 3-12D). Simultaneous inhibition of p38 MAPK and FoxO1 significantly increased proliferation in both male and female confluent EC (Fig 3-12E). Interestingly, proliferation of EC with inhibition of both p38 MAPK and FoxO1 was significantly higher than proliferation of EC with inhibition of either FoxO1 (Fig 3-12F) or p38 MAPK alone (Fig 3-12G). Inhibition of PFKFB3 had no effect on proliferation of male and female EC and there was only a significant main effect for sex (p=0.01) (Fig 3-12H). inhibition significantly decreased proliferation in both male ESR1 and female EC which is consistent with the observed effect of ESR1 inhibition in low density EC (Fig 3-12I).



Figure 3-12: <u>Signaling pathway contributions to proliferation of confluent EC.</u> Proliferation assay results in male and female EC following inhibition of (A) p38 MAPK (SB203580-10 μ M); (B) FoxO1 (AS1842856-1 μ M); (C) p38 MAPK and FoxO1 compared to control; (D) FoxO1 compared to p38 MAPK and FoxO1; (E) p38 MAPK compared to p38 MAPK and FoxO1; (F) PFKFB3 (3PO-10 μ M); (G) ESR1 (MPP dihydrochloride-10 μ M). Data analyzed using repeated measures ANOVA (A, B, F and G), two-way ANOVA (C, D and E). Main effects are Sex (S) and Treatment (T). Mean +/-S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 ***p<0.001.

Chapter 4 Discussion

In my thesis, I have established the existence of sex-specific differences in the angiogenic capacity of male and female EC in vitro. Female EC from the visceral AT explant were more successful in sprouting ex-vivo compared to males. There however, no sex-specific difference in was, gene expression levels of EC markers or VEGF in AT in vivo. My experiments showed that males. female EC have а higher proliferation rate in vitro compared to Surprisingly, I observed higher protein levels of FoxO1 and phosphorylated p38 MAPK in female EC. Furthermore, I provided evidence showing that FoxO1 is involved in inhibition of proliferation in confluent EC. p38 MAPK on the other hand suppressed proliferation of EC under low confluency in males, whereas in confluent EC, p38 MAPK was involved in inhibition of proliferation independent of the sex. Additionally, these two pathways acted independently in confluent EC since inhibiting both at the same time resulted in a greater decrease in cell proliferation.

4.1 Sex differences in sprouting capacity

Our lab's previous study provided evidence for higher angiogenesis in high fat-fed female mice compared to males (Rudnicki et al., 2018). Studying AT sprouting ex-vivo has been shown to reflect angiogenic growth in-vivo (Gealekman et al., 2011; Greenway et al., 2007). Utilizing this method, I was able to study angiogenesis in a controlled environment. The higher sprouting success of female AT explants was in line with the higher female AT

angiogenesis observed previously. It is unlikely that the higher sprouting success of female AT explants could be due to a higher number of EC present in the explant at the start of the assay, since my results indicated no disparity in EC content in AT of males and females. Male AT explants on the other and density of sprouting compared to females, hand, exhibited higher area which contrasts with our previous findings of lower AT angiogenesis in An important consideration here is that in the previous study, lower males. angiogenesis was observed in males compared to females when under a high fat diet. In the current project, explants were from normal chow fed mice. It is possible that a different outcome would have been observed if the ex-vivo experiments were repeated using AT from high-fat fed mice.

The density and area of sprouting in male explants higher could be an indicator of higher proliferation and migration of EC ex-vivo. The higher sprouting success of female explants, on the other hand, could be indicative of a higher capacity of female EC to initiate proliferation and migration and transform into the tip and stalk cells required for sprouting (Gerhardt et al., 2003). This higher propensity to initiate sprouting could be either a result of higher inherent female EC capacity to proliferate and migrate or the presence of a more pro-angiogenic environment in female visceral AT.

4.2 No difference in VEGFA expression in male and female ex-vivo

Examining the angiogenic microenvironment of a tissue requires measuring the gene expression and protein levels of several of angiogenic factors. There

was no sex difference in the gene expression of VEGFA in AT of 10-week old mice. Based on this, I conclude that the distinct sex-related patterns in AT sprouting ex-vivo was not due to differences in VEGFA expression. Although VEGFA is considered to be a major angiogenic factor, there are other profactors and pathways such angiogenic growth as angiopoietin (ANGPT), Notch and PDGFB (Hellström et al., 2007; Papetti and Herman, 2002; Yancopoulos et al., 2000). While our lab's previous study on 16-week old mice, indicated higher gene expression of Angpt2 in females AT compared to males (Rudnicki et al., 2018), the same study did not find any sex-specific differences in Notch pathway ligands, Dll4 and Jag1. In summary, I observed difference in Vegfa mRNA expression in AT but comparing no the proangiogenic of male and female AT requires state а more extensive examination of additional angiogenic factors.

4.3 EC angiogenic capacity

angiogenesis, specialized endothelial During sprouting tip cells migrate and each to form connect with other new sprouts while stalk cells are proliferating to form the lumen and elongate the new vessel (Gianni-Barrera et al., 2011). The lack of sex difference in migration of EC observed in the present study is in contrast with the higher sprouting success of female AT observed in our ex-vivo assay as well as higher AT angiogenesis in female mice documented in our previous study (Rudnicki et al., 2018). Due to limitations with my migration assay that will be discussed later, I am

reluctant to draw any conclusions for the functions of signaling pathways in migration of male and female EC.

The higher proliferation of female EC in vitro provides a tissue environmentfor observed higher angiogenesis in independent explanation the high-fat fed female mice. Proliferation sprouting is а major process in angiogenesis (Risau, 1997). Several studies have compared the proliferation of EC in males extracted from various tissues and females. Consistent with our results, a study comparing male and female HUVEC provided evidence for higher female EC proliferation with 10% FBS without addition of E2 to the Another media (Addis al.. 2014). study using et human pulmonary endothelial cells (HPMEC) showed higher proliferation microvascular female compared to males after 72 hours of in vitro cell growth with 5% FBS and no E2 al., 2018). supplementation (Zhang et Conversely, male skeletal rat showed higher proliferation muscle microvascular EC compared to females 20% FBS and growth factors in a study by Huxley et with al. (2018),differences in EC proliferation indicating possible based on the species and/or the tissues from which the EC were extracted and the cell culture conditions.

4.4 Differences in signaling pathways and their contributions to proliferation of male and female EC

pathways proliferation EC. Ι examined Several signaling control in the in protein expression and functions MAPK, differences of FoxO1, ESR1 pathways as well as PFKFB3, a glycolytic enzyme, in male and female EC to
understand the mechanisms underlying the observed sex-specific difference in EC proliferation.

ERK1/2, JNK and Akt

Members of MAPK pathway, ERK1/2 and JNK are involved in regulation of ERK1/2 promotes EC angiogenesis in EC. proliferation and survival whereas JNK is involved in glucose deprivation and cellular stress response (Abe Jun-2001). ichi 2000; Chang and Karin, The results of my et al.. protein showed no sex-specific difference in phosphorylation levels measurements of these proteins in EC. Therefore, the observed higher proliferation of female EC appears unlikely to be due to differences in activities of ERK1/2 and JNK.

phosphorylation kinase Similarly, the levels of another involved in modulating angiogenesis, Akt, did not male show any differences in and EC. Akt involved female is in promoting EC survival, proliferation and migration (Kureishi et al., 2000; Morales-Ruiz et al., 2000).

VEGFR2 activation leads to phosphorylation of MAPK proteins as well as Akt (Dimmeler et al., 2000; Lamalice et al., 2006). Under my experimental conditions, however, I observed no effect of VEGFA on phosphorylation of ERK1/2, p38 MAPK and Akt. This is in contrast with the known effect of VEGF on these proteins activation in other types of EC (Aiken and Birot, 2016; Ren et al., 2010; Romano et al., 2014; Sack et al., 2016). This may indicate that visceral AT EC are not responsive to VEGFA. Alternatively, it could indicate that other growth factors present in the media can compensate

the absence of VEGF and therefore other signaling pathways such as in growth factor receptor pathway (EGFR) active which epidermal are are activating the capable of same downstream targets as VEGFR2 pathway 2018). Measuring VEGFR2 phosphorylation would give a (Sigismund et al., understanding of the activity of this pathway in the absence better and presence of VEGFA. Although in my experiments I serum-starved the cells longer serum-starvation may help to control for confounding for 2 hours, contains a variables such as serum that host of growth factors including VEGF, FGF and EGF.

FoxO1 and p38 MAPK

protein levels of FoxO1 and p-p38 MAPK EC The higher in female compared to males were unexpected as both p38 MAPK and FoxO1 are controlling proliferation by inhibiting a number of cell cycle involved in related factors such as c-MYC and CyclinD1 (Dang, 2013; Wilhelm et al., 2016; Zhang and Liu, 2002).

of In justification this apparent paradox between FoxO1 level and proliferation, it is important to consider that protein levels of FoxO1 may not directly be associated to its transcriptional activity. FoxO1 is regulated by a wide range of factors such as insulin, cytokines and oxidative stress (Daitoku et al., 2011). These stimuli mainly regulate FoxO1 activity by altering its modifications post-translational such as phosphorylation, acetylation and These methylation (Daitoku et al., 2011). modifications in turn control FoxO1 localization, protein levels and DNA-binding properties (Calnan and

2008). One of the best known post-translational modifications of Brunet. Akt-mediated phosphorylation, which leads to FoxO1 translocation FoxO1 is the nucleus and subsequent degradation in cytoplasm from (Biggs et al., Dong et al., 2008; Matsuzaki et al., 2003; Tzivion et al., 2011). 1999; However, my experiments did not indicate any sex difference in p-FoxO1 levels. As mentioned before, there are other relevant modifications that I have not assessed in this project. For this reason, measuring nuclear FoxO1 content transcriptional activity, may give a better understanding of protein its or activity. I did attempt to measure the nuclear FoxO1 protein level but my efforts for extracting cytoplasmic and nuclear content of EC and measuring FoxO1 levels were unsuccessful due to presence of cytoplasmic proteins in the nuclear extract, indicating a failure to efficiently separate the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions.

Higher protein levels of FoxO1 and phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in female EC may be a compensatory response to the higher proliferation rate observed in these cells as part of a negative feedback loop. There is evidence for higher expression of FoxO1 in cells with high proliferative rate. For instance, Wang et al. (2018) compared the protein levels of FoxO1 in gastrointestinal stromal tumor cells (GIST-T1) with the normal human fibroblast (WI-38) and found higher levels of FoxO1 in the faster proliferating GIST-T1 cells. Similarly, there is abundant evidence for upregulation of p-p38 MAPK in a number of tumor cell types including lymphoma, glioma and head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (Demuth et al., 2007; Elenitoba-Johnson et al., 2003; Junttila

al., 2007), which may be a compensatory response to high rate of et proliferation in these cells. It is worth mentioning that higher levels of activation of p38 MAPK in tumor cells may be related to other roles of p38 MAPK including migration, invasion, response stress and to DNA damage (Wagner and Nebreda, 2009). For instance, a few studies have examined the increase in activity of p38 MAPK in response to DNA damage induced by UV irradiation (Wood et al., 2009). Similarly, in female EC p38 MAPK may be upregulated to induce the DNA damage mechanisms repair system that is required when cells are proliferating at higher rates.

proliferation assay results showed a role for FoxO1 in inhibition The of proliferation in confluent cells, indicating that FoxO1 is involved in contact inhibition of proliferation. Contact inhibition is described as the tendency of slow their proliferation cultured cells to stop or as they get close to confluence (Motti et al., 2005). Cell-cell adhesion molecules such as cadherins, particularly VE-cadherin in EC, are considered as the initiators of contact inhibition of proliferation (Niessen et al., 2011). E-cadherin activates the Hippo pathway, mainly through catenins such as β -catenin bound to Ecadherin (Kim et al., 2011). Activation of the Hippo pathway inhibits the action of Yes-associated protein (YAP)-1, which is involved in upregulation of proliferation-promoting genes such as Myc and Cyclin D1 (Schlegelmilch et al., 2011; Silvis et al., 2011). Cyclin D1 is a known target of FoxO1 and it has been shown that inhibition of Cyclin D1 is associated with contact inhibition in confluent cells (Gookin et al., 2017). In summary, I conclude

that in EC under my experimental conditions, FoxO1 is mainly involved in contact inhibition of proliferation.

The greater influence of p38 inhibition in sub-confluent male vs. female EC could indicate a greater role of p38 in suppression of proliferation in male EC. lower baseline (control groups) proliferation of However male EC compared to females could exaggerate the effect of inhibition of p38 MAPK male in sub-confluent cells. EC observed Baseline proliferation in rate of compared to $\simeq 22\%$ in females after 4 hours EC **≃**17% male was of incubation with EdU. Inhibition of p38 MAPK increased proliferation to 24% 25% in males females respectively. Since females' baseline and and closer to their maximum proliferative capacity (observed proliferation was by inhibiting both p38 and FoxO1 simultaneously), inhibition of p38 MAPK led a smaller increase in their proliferation whereas male baseline proliferation to was considerably lower and the increase as a result of p38 MAPK inhibition significant. The results of proliferation assays in confluent cells are was in line with this hypothesis. EC of both sexes had a lower proliferation rate in confluent cells; inhibition of p38 MAPK had a significant effect in increasing the proliferation in both and there was no sex related difference in this observed effect.

p38 MAPK was involved in inhibition of proliferation regardless of the confluency of plated EC whereas FoxO1 had а significant effect on proliferation only in confluent EC. Based on this observation, I hypothesize these two pathways act independently of each other in inhibition that of

proliferation. This hypothesis is supported by the effects of inhibition of both p38 MAPK and FoxO1 in EC, which indicated an additive effect of each pathway in proliferation. Overall, my thesis provides evidence for the anti-proliferative function of p38 MAPK in both confluent and sub-confluent EC whereas FoxO1 appears involved in contact inhibition of confluent EC.



Figure 4-1: Summary of the effects of p38 and FoxO1 on the proliferation of male and female <u>EC. (A)</u> Schematic depicting FoxO1 and p38 MAPK function in EC proliferation. Effects of inhibition of p38 MAPK and/or FoxO1 in (B) sub-confluent and (C) confluent male and female EC (Created with BioRender).

PFKFB3

EC rely on glycolysis for ATP production and PFKFB3 is the most potent stimulator of glycolysis (De Bock et al., 2013b). This enzyme is involved in modulation of EC proliferation and migration. Although there was a trend for difference higher PFKFB3 protein levels in female EC. the was not significant. There is evidence for the importance of fatty acid oxidation in EC metabolism (Bruning et al., 2018; Kalucka et al., 2018; Patella et al., 2015; Schoors et al., 2015; Vanetti et al., 2017). The higher proliferation in female EC may indeed be a result of a higher capacity of these cells to utilize fatty acid as an energy source. Furthermore, the reduction in proliferation in male but not female EC with PFKFB3 inhibition may indicate a higher dependence of male EC on glycolysis for energy production whereas female EC may fatty acid oxidation to replenish switch to other energy pathways such as ATP production. A study by Vanetti et al. (2017) concluded that male HUVEC have higher dependence on fatty acid oxidation for in vitro sprouting compared to females which is in contrast to our findings. No effect inhibition in confluent EC is consistent with studies indicating of PFKFB3 quiescent EC upregulate fatty acid oxidation (Kalucka et that al., 2018). Overall, flexibility of female EC in using different energy sources compared are mostly dependant on glycolysis for proliferation, could to males. which of the underlying reasons for higher proliferation in female be one EC. Further experiments measuring glucose uptake and lactate production as well

as measuring protein levels of fatty acid oxidation related protein carnitine palmitoyl- transferase 1A (CPT1a) would provide a better understanding of metabolism in male and female EC.

ESR1

In my experiments, inhibition of the ESR1 pathway eliminated the observed sex difference in EC proliferation. This suggests a role of ESR1 signaling in the higher proliferation of female EC compared to males. ESR1 signaling is mainly activated through ligand (E2) binding. Although I did not add E2 to the cell culture media, there is the possibility for some residual activation of this pathway. The concentration of estrogen in the media was very low (40.5 pg/mL). There is, however, evidence for activation of E2 signaling when media containing FBS is not charcoal-stripped (Cao et al., 2009; Tekkatte et al., 2011). Moreover, phenol red, which is a common component of cell have estrogenic activity (Liu et culture media, is known to al., 2013; Welshons et al., 1988). E2 exerts its angiogenic effect mainly through ESR1 increased EC proliferation and migration (Concina signaling, which leads to et al., 2000; Morales et al., 1995; Simoncini et al., 2006). E2 enhances through ESR1 expression angiogenesis signaling by upregulating VEGF in AT (Fatima et al., 2017). It is worth mentioning that ESR1 signaling could also get activated in a ligand-independent manner and with cross-talk with pathways including EGF and IGF-1 (Ignar-Trowbridge other et al.. 1995; Lupien et al., 2010; Straus and Takemoto, 1990).

Higher activation of ESR1 pathway in females could be a result of higher expression of ESR1 protein in female EC. A study on the ESR1/2 protein level of male and female HUVEC by Addis et al. (2014) did not find any their protein level. My western blot experiments to measure difference in protein levels of ESR1 in EC were unsuccessful. E2 has been shown to activate the ERK1/2 pathway, resulting in stimulation of proliferation and EC (Geraldes et al., 2002; Lantin-Hermoso et al., 1997). migration of Mv indicate differences results, however, did not any in ERK1/2phosphorylation, therefore E2 activation of ERK1/2could not explain the observed higher proliferation in female EC. Examining the function of ESR1 signaling in the observed sex-specific difference in EC proliferation requires more experiments that will be discussed later.

Chapter 5 Conclusion

5.1 Significance

My Master's thesis provides evidence for a higher proliferative capacity of female EC compared to males as well as differences in the activation of signaling pathways involved in angiogenesis in culture conditions used in the current project. Our lab's previous work has indicated that female mice have increased AT vascularity in response to a high fat diet whereas male mice have diminished AT vascularization (Rudnicki et al., 2018). My thesis is a determining accounting step toward the mechanisms for this observed sex related difference in AT angiogenesis in vivo. Based on my findings, I

propose that the higher proliferative capacity of EC in females is a novel underlying mechanism for higher angiogenesis in female AT. Furthermore, I have established the existence of sex differences in protein levels of FoxO1 of p38 MAPK, which important and the phosphorylation are signaling regulation of EC proliferation. Finally, my thesis pathways involved in the provides evidence for the lack of effect of VEGFA in the activation of EC MAPK pathways in extracted from visceral AT under the culture conditions used in my experiments. This is in contrast with the observed effects of VEGFA in activating MAPK in EC extracted from tissues other than visceral AT and other species (Aiken and Birot, 2016; Ren et al., 2010; Romano et al., 2014; Sack et al., 2016). This is in line with a number of studies that illustrate differences in characteristics of EC based on the tissue from which they are extracted (Gogg et al.; Huxley et al., 2018). This lack of response of visceral AT EC to VEGFA requires further confirmation. Based observed heterogeneity in EC behaviour, it is this not appropriate on to assume that all EC will respond the same way to the same stimuli.

5.2 Limitations

There were several methodological limitations that may have impacted the results of my experiments. The small pieces of AT used for the *ex-vivo* sprouting assay were isolated from 12 female mice irrespective of the ovarian cycle. E2 is a known regulator of a number of angiogenic factors including VEGF and leptin, and differences in estrous cycle of mice at the time of tissue collection could have introduced variability in the results related to

explant sprouting capacity (Wang et al., 2000; Yamaguchi et al., 2002; Zysow Bernice R. et al., 1997). Another possible source of variability in the *ex-vivo* sprouting assay was the variation in the size of AT explants that were used. Larger explants tend to contain higher amounts of angiogenic growth factors and higher numbers of EC that may lead to higher sprouting capacity.

Most of assays I conducted were dependent on comparing male and female EC *in vitro*. Culturing cells provided the opportunity to perform experiments on cells in similar environments, using the same incubation conditions and the cell culture media used had the same constituents. However, differences in growth rate of male and female EC led to difficulties in maintaining the cells at the same level of confluency. This could affect the EC behaviour, gene expression and protein levels and introduce variability to the results.

Since my proliferation assays were performed in vitro in an isolated setting that is not identical to the in-vivo environment, the results may not provide a full explanation for possible related differences EC. Therefore. sex in addressing other factors such as exposure to sex hormones, growth factors and cytokines that are normally present in vivo is necessary to get a clearer picture of sex related differences in EC. The EC used in this project were without additional growth cultured in 20% FBS media factors (VEGF or FGF). We stopped treating EC with VEGF after observing the lack of effect of VEGF on activation of a number of signaling pathways including Akt and MAPK pathways. However, recent unpublished data from lab has our identified increased levels of expression of mesenchymal cell marker genes

which may indicate de-differentiation of EC to mesenchymal cells of EC in the absence of some important growth factors and this could affect outcomes being measured.

Certain assays used to compare EC angiogenic capacity in my project could limit interpretations of the results. In order to measure proliferation, I initially used the CyQuantTM assay, which measures the DNA content of cells. For CyQuantTM assay, control plates frozen at time zero had to have the same starting cell count as the proliferation plates and any small variations could affect the reproducibility of measurements. As a result of this, getting reproducible results was a challenge. Since in the EdU corporation assay, I was able to count the total number of cells plated in each well and count the cells that were proliferating (Fig 4A and B), it was not prone to errors arising from possible variation in starting cell count.

The results of the migration assay were not conclusive. The 96 well collagen coated plate used for this assay had to be reused as stoppers creating the cell free zone were specific to that type of plate and I was analyzing fewer than 96 wells in each experiment. As a result of this, long term use of the same plate for different experiments could have impacted the ECM coating of the plate leading to poor adhesion of cells. Using freshly coated collagen plates for each experiment could eliminate this issue with cell adherence and result in more consistent results. Notch pathway functions in the context of sprout formation and EC-EC interactions during lumen formation where cells are interacting with each other in all directions and not only as a monolayer

(Phng and Gerhardt, 2009; Zhao et al., 2017). The migration assay I used was performed in 2D while assays that allow for EC-EC interactions in 3D would be more useful in determining the effects of Notch in male and female EC. Notch ligands are expressed on tip cells and activate Notch pathway in the surrounding EC in response to VEGF gradient. Without the VEGF gradient, the Notch ligands are not expressed on tip cells and activate the Notch pathway will not happen. For these reasons, testing the Notch pathway in vitro using the migration assay that I used may not reflect the in vivo conditions. Ι tried measuring migration/invasion distance of EC using а results, invading collagen. The monolayer of cells into however. were inconsistent due to difficulties with cutting the collagen in thin sections that were needed for imaging.

I relied on inhibitors to determine the function of different signal pathways in both proliferation and migration assays. One issue with using inhibitors is their off-target effects that may affect the results. As an example, there is target effect of ESR1 for off inhibitor MPP evidence an dihydrochloride which could lead to activation of apoptotic pathways and thus decrease proliferation independent of the effect of E2 (Al-Khyatt et al., 2018). The p38 inhibitor, SB203580, used in my project is known to have an off MAPK target effect on blocking Akt phosphorylation, which is an important upstream kinase of p38 MAPK (Lali et al., 2000). Another inhibitor used in my experiments, 3PO which inhibits the activity of PFKFB3 enzyme, could inhibit other PFKFB isoenzymes, due to similarities of kinase active sites

across all PFKFB proteins (Houddane et al., 2017). An alternative approach that could prevent the off-target effect of inhibitors would be to use small interfering RNA (siRNA) to decrease the expression of the target gene rather than to inhibit the activity of the target protein.

5.3 Future Directions

If I was continuing, I would test culturing cells in a hormone-free media, such charcoal stripped serum (CSS), which could establish if the observed as higher proliferation of female EC is due to their inherent higher capacity to respond to E2 or if there is another inherent sex related difference in EC. Using this approach, measuring FoxO1 and p-p38 in hormone free media with and without addition of E2 helps determine the effect of ESR1 signaling MAPK activation. It should be noted that one limitation is on p38 that charcoal stripping also removes fatty acids that are essential for EC growth, which may impede the normal proliferation, migration and gene expression in EC (Vanetti et al., 2017).

The higher FoxO1 protein levels in females could lead to higher activity of ESR1 in female EC. Using a biotin-DNA pull down assay, Foulds et al. (2013) identified FoxO1 as a co-regulator that binds to E2-liganded ESR1. Furthermore, by using siRNA against FoxO1 and measuring its effect on reporter genes, they indicated that FoxO1 is a co-activator of ESR1 pathway (Foulds et al., 2013). Another study by Schuur et al. (2001) showed FoxO1 and ESR1 interaction using a yeast two-hybrid screen and reported that

FoxO1 enhances ESR1 transactivation. Conversely, their study also showed an inhibitory effect of E2-liganded ESR1 on FoxO1 mediated transactivation.

There is evidence for E2 mediated activation of p38 MAPK by non-genomic ESR1 signaling (Anter et al., 2005; Hsu et al., 2007; Kan et al., 2008). The observed higher levels of phosphorylation of p38 MAPK in female EC in my project may be a result of greater activation of ESR1 signaling in females in response to E2 present in the cell culture media.

ESR1 signaling is activated by ligand-dependent In summary, or ligandindependent mechanisms. To assess which type of ESR1 signaling activation charcoal-stripped serum media could be used to affects proliferation, culture proliferation. ESR1 cells and assess cell signaling could upregulate phosphorylation p38 MAPK and FoxO1 is а co-activator of ESR-1 of signaling.



Figure 5-1: <u>Schematic depicting potential interactions between ESR1</u> <u>signaling, FoxO1 and p38 MAPK in the regulation of EC proliferation.</u> ESR1 signaling could activate p38 MAPK, which in turn inhibits proliferation. FoxO1 is a co-activator of E2-liganded ESR1.

In vivo, any sexual dimorphism in the angiogenic behaviour of EC is a result of a combination of inherent differences arising from sex chromosomes and the effect of continuous exposure to sex hormones as well as angiogenic microenvironment of the tissue (Kim-Schulze et al., 1996; Losordo and Isner, 2001; Morales et al., 1995; Venkov et al., 1996). My project focused on inherent sex differences in the angiogenic capacity of EC in a controlled environment in isolation. To get a clearer picture of underlying mechanisms responsible for sex related differences of EC, in vivo models that could effects of both sex hormones characterize the and sex chromosomes in the microenvironment of the tissue may be more informative. To achieve this. surgical removal of the gonads in male and female mice (gonadectomy) could be used to compare the male and female EC angiogenic capacity in vivo independent of the effect of the sex hormones. Furthermore, by adding the controlled dosage to each sex, the contribution of these hormones in sex hormones to EC angiogenic capacity could be determined.

These proposed future experiments will be valuable in further clarifying the AT underlying mechanisms for higher female angiogenesis which is susceptibility to obesity related associated with lower disorders in females. this approach, the contribution of inherent differences in male Using and female EC to observed disparity in AT angiogenesis will be clarified. This in understanding of physio-pathological turn may lead to better differences in male and female cardio-metabolic function. А appreciation greater of sex-related differences suggest inherent in EC may new targets for preventative and therapeutic approaches in treating obesity-related disorders such as CVD and type II diabetes.

References

Abarca-Gómez, L., Abdeen, Z.A., Hamid, Z.A., Abu-Rmeileh, N.M., Acosta-Cazares, B., Acuin, C., Adams, R.J., Aekplakorn, W., Afsana, K., Aguilar-Salinas, C.A., et al. (2017). Worldwide trends in body-mass index, underweight, overweight, and obesity from 1975 to 2016: a pooled analysis of 2416 population-based measurement studies in 128.9 million children, adolescents, and adults. The Lancet *390*, 2627–2642.

Abe Jun-ichi, Baines Christopher P., and Berk Bradford C. (2000). Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in ischemia and reperfusion injury. Circulation Research *86*, 607–609.

Addis, R., Campesi, I., Fois, M., Capobianco, G., Dessole, S., Fenu, G., Montella, A., Cattaneo, M.G., Vicentini, L.M., and Franconi, F. (2014). Human umbilical endothelial cells (HUVECs) have a sex: characterization of the phenotype of male and female cells. Biology of Sex Differences *5*, 18.

Aiken, J., and Birot, O. (2016). The vascular endothelial growth factor-a phosphorylates murine double minute-2 on its serine 166 via the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and p90 ribosomal s6 kinase in primary human endothelial cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 478, 1548–1554.

Alberti K.G.M.M., Eckel Robert H., Grundy Scott M., Zimmet Paul Z., Cleeman James I., Donato Karen A., Fruchart Jean-Charles, James W. Philip T., Loria Catherine M., and Smith Sidney C. (2009). Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome. Circulation *120*, 1640–1645.

Alitalo, K., Tammela, T., and Petrova, T.V. (2005). Lymphangiogenesis in development and human disease. Nature *438*, 946.

Al-Khyatt, W., Tufarelli, C., Khan, R., and Iftikhar, S.Y. (2018). Selective oestrogen receptor antagonists inhibit oesophageal cancer cell proliferation in vitro. BMC Cancer 18.

Alon, T., Hemo, I., Itin, A., Pe'er, J., Stone, J., and Keshet, E. (1995). Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. Nature Medicine 1, 1024–1028.

Anter, E., Chen, K., Shapira, O.M., Karas, R.H., and Keaney, J.F. (2005). p38 Mitogen-activated protein kinase activates eNOS in endothelial cells by an estrogen receptor α -dependent pathway in response to black tea polyphenols. Circulation Research *96*, 1072–1078.

Araujo, A.B., Dixon, J.M., Suarez, E.A., Murad, M.H., Guey, L.T., and Wittert, G.A. (2011). Endogenous testosterone and mortality in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *96*, 3007–3019.

Arner, P., Lithell, H., Wahrenberg, H., and Brönnegard, M. (1991). Expression of lipoprotein lipase in different human subcutaneous adipose tissue regions. Journal of Lipid Research *32*, 423–429.

Arroyo, A.G., and Iruela-Arispe, M.L. (2010). Extracellular matrix, inflammation, and the angiogenic response. Cardiovascular Research *86*, 226–235.

Asarian, L., and Geary, N. (2002). Cyclic estradiol treatment normalizes body weight and restores physiological patterns of spontaneous feeding and sexual receptivity in ovariectomized rats. Hormones and Behavior *42*, 461–471.

Batres, R.O., and Dupont, J. (1986). Gender differences in prostacyclin and prostaglandin E2 synthesis by human endothelial cells. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Medicine *22*, 159–171.

Benedito, R., Roca, C., Sörensen, I., Adams, S., Gossler, A., Fruttiger, M., and Adams, R.H. (2009). The Notch ligands Dll4 and Jagged1 have opposing effects on angiogenesis. Cell *137*, 1124–1135.

Berg Anders H., and Scherer Philipp E. (2005). Adipose tissue, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease. Circulation Research *96*, 939–949.

Betsholtz, C. (2004). Insight into the physiological functions of PDGF through genetic studies in mice. Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews *15*, 215–228.

Bhasin, S., Cunningham, G.R., Hayes, F.J., Matsumoto, A.M., Snyder, P.J., Swerdloff, R.S., Montori, V.M., and Task Force, Endocrine Society (2010). Testosterone therapy in men with androgen deficiency syndromes: An Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *95*, 2536–2559.

Biggs, W.H., Meisenhelder, J., Hunter, T., Cavenee, W.K., and Arden, K.C. (1999). Protein kinase B/Akt-mediated phosphorylation promotes nuclear exclusion of the winged helix transcription factor FKHR1. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *96*, 7421–7426.

Bikfalvi, A. (2017). History and conceptual developments in vascular biology and angiogenesis research: a personal view. Angiogenesis 20, 463–478.

Blanco, R., and Gerhardt, H. (2013). VEGF and Notch in tip and stalk cell selection. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine *3*, a006569.

Blouin, K., Boivin, A., and Tchernof, A. (2008). Androgens and body fat distribution. The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology *108*, 272–280.

Blüher, M. (2019). Obesity: global epidemiology and pathogenesis. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 15, 288.

Boer, H.D., Verschoor, L., Ruinemans-Koerts, J., and Jansen, M. (2005). Letrozole normalizes serum testosterone in severely obese men with hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism 7, 211–215.

Bojesen, A., Kristensen, K., Birkebaek, N.H., Fedder, J., Mosekilde, L., Bennett, P., Laurberg, P., Frystyk, J., Flyvbjerg, A., Christiansen, J.S., et al. (2006). The metabolic syndrome is frequent in klinefelter's syndrome and is associated with abdominal obesity and hypogonadism. Diabetes Care *29*, 1591–1598.

Bruning, U., Morales-Rodriguez, F., Kalucka, J., Goveia, J., Taverna, F., Queiroz, K.C.S., Dubois, C., Cantelmo, A.R., Chen, R., Loroch, S., et al. (2018). Impairment of angiogenesis by fatty acid synthase inhibition involves mTOR malonylation. Cell Metabolism *28*, 866-880.e15.

Bruun, J.M., Lihn, A.S., Pedersen, S.B., and Richelsen, B. (2005). Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 release is higher in visceral than subcutaneous human adipose tissue (AT): implication of macrophages resident in the AT. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *90*, 2282–2289.

Bukowski, R., Smith, G.C.S., Malone, F.D., Ball, R.H., Nyberg, D.A., Comstock, C.H., Hankins, G.D.V., Berkowitz, R.L., Gross, S.J., Dugoff, L., et al. (2007). Human sexual size dimorphism in early pregnancy. American Journal of Epidemiology *165*, 1216–1218.

Burgoyne, P.S. (1993). A Y-chromosomal effect on blastocyst cell number in mice. Development *117*, 341–345.

Burgoyne, P. S., Thornhill, A. R., Boudrean, S. K., Darling, S. M., Bishop, C. E., & Evans, E. P. (1995). The genetic basis of XX-XY differences present before gonadal sex differentiation in the mouse. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London *350*, 253–261.

Bylebyl, J.J. (1978). William Harvey, a conventional medical revolutionary. JAMA 239, 1295–1298.

Caduff, J.H., Fischer, L.C., and Burri, P.H. (1986). Scanning electron microscope study of the developing microvasculature in the postnatal rat lung. The Anatomical Record *216*, 154–164.

Calnan, D.R., and Brunet, A. (2008). The FoxO code. Oncogene 27, 2276–2288.

Cao, Y. (2010). Adipose tissue angiogenesis as a therapeutic target for obesity and metabolic diseases. Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery *9*, 107–115.

Cao, Y. (2013). Angiogenesis and vascular functions in modulation of obesity, adipose metabolism, and insulin sensitivity. Cell Metabolism *18*, 478–489.

Cao, Z., West, C., Norton-Wenzel, C.S., Rej, R., Davis, F.B., Davis, P.J., and Rej, R. (2009). Effects of resin or charcoal treatment on fetal bovine serum and bovine calf serum. Endocrine Research *34*, 101–108.

Carmeliet, P. (2000). Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nature Medicine *6*, 389–395.

Carmeliet, P. (2003). Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nature Medicine 9, 653-660.

Carmeliet, P. (2005). Angiogenesis in life, disease and medicine. Nature 438, 932.

Carmeliet, P., and Jain, R.K. (2000). Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature 407, 35025220.

Carmeliet, P., and Jain, R.K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. Nature *473*, 298–307.

Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., et al. (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature *380*, 435–439.

Carr, M.C. (2003). The Emergence of the Metabolic Syndrome with Menopause. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *88*, 2404–2411.

Cattaneo, M.G., Vanetti, C., Decimo, I., Di Chio, M., Martano, G., Garrone, G., Bifari, F., and Vicentini, L.M. (2017). Sex-specific eNOS activity and function in human endothelial cells. Scientific Reports 7, 9612.

Chang, L., and Karin, M. (2001). Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. Nature 410, 37.

Chen, X., McClusky, R., Chen, J., Beaven, S.W., Tontonoz, P., Arnold, A.P., and Reue, K. (2012). The number of x chromosomes causes sex differences in adiposity in mice. PLOS Genetics *8*, e1002709.

Chen, X., Wang, L., Loh, D.H., Colwell, C.S., Taché, Y., Reue, K., and Arnold, A.P. (2015). Sex differences in diurnal rhythms of food intake in mice caused by gonadal hormones and complement of sex chromosomes. Hormones and Behavior *75*, 55–63.

Claesson-Welsh, L. (2015). Vascular permeability—the essentials. Upsala Journal of Medical Sciences *120*, 135–143.

Clegg, D.J., Brown, L.M., Woods, S.C., and Benoit, S.C. (2006). Gonadal hormones determine sensitivity to central leptin and insulin. Diabetes *55*, 978–987.

Cohen, P. (1997). The search for physiological substrates of MAP and SAP kinases in mammalian cells. Trends in Cell Biology *7*, 353–361.

Concina, P., Sordello, S., Barbacanne, M.A., Elhage, R., Pieraggi, M.T., Fournial, G., Plouet, J., Bayard, F., and Arnal, J.F. (2000). The mitogenic effect of 17beta-estradiol on in vitro endothelial cell proliferation and on in vivo reendothelialization are both dependent on vascular endothelial growth factor. Journal of Vascular Research *37*, 202–208.

Corvera, S., and Gealekman, O. (2014). Adipose tissue angiogenesis: Impact on obesity and type-2 diabetes. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Basis of Disease *1842*, 463–472.

Crewe, C., An, Y.A., and Scherer, P.E. (2017). The ominous triad of adipose tissue dysfunction: inflammation, fibrosis, and impaired angiogenesis. Journal of Clinical Investigation *127*, 74–82.

Culic, O., Gruwel, M.L., and Schrader, J. (1997). Energy turnover of vascular endothelial cells. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology *273*, C205–C213.

Daitoku, H., Sakamaki, J., and Fukamizu, A. (2011). Regulation of FoxO transcription factors by acetylation and protein–protein interactions. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta - Molecular Cell Research *1813*, 1954–1960.

Dang, C.V. (2013). MYC, metabolism, cell growth, and tumorigenesis. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine *3*, a014217

Darland, D.C., and D'Amore, P.A. (2001). Cell-cell interactions in vascular development. Current Topics in Developmental Biology *52*, 107–149.

De Bock, K., Georgiadou, M., and Carmeliet, P. (2013a). Role of endothelial cell metabolism in vessel sprouting. Cell Metabolism *18*, 634–647.

De Bock, K., Georgiadou, M., Schoors, S., Kuchnio, A., Wong, B.W., Cantelmo, A.R., Quaegebeur, A., Ghesquière, B., Cauwenberghs, S., Eelen, G., et al. (2013b). Role of PFKFB3-driven glycolysis in vessel sprouting. Cell *154*, 651–663.

Demuth, T., Reavie, L.B., Rennert, J.L., Nakada, M., Nakada, S., Hoelzinger, D.B., Beaudry, C.E., Henrichs, A.N., Anderson, E.M., and Berens, M.E. (2007). MAP-ing glioma invasion: Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 3 and p38 drive glioma invasion and progression and predict patient survival. Mol Cancer Therapies *6*, 1212–1222.

Densham, R.M., Todd, D.E., Balmanno, K., and Cook, S.J. (2008). ERK1/2 and p38 cooperate to delay progression through G1 by promoting cyclin D1 protein turnover. Cell Signalling *20*, 1986–1994.

Dimmeler, S., Dernbach, E., and Zeiher, A.M. (2000). Phosphorylation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase at ser-1177 is required for VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration. FEBS Letters *477*, 258–262.

Doddaballapur Anuradha, Michalik Katharina M., Manavski Yosif, Lucas Tina, Houtkooper Riekelt H., You Xintian, Chen Wei, Zeiher Andreas M., Potente Michael, Dimmeler Stefanie, et al. (2015). Laminar Shear Stress Inhibits Endothelial Cell Metabolism via KLF2-Mediated Repression of PFKFB3. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology *35*, 137–145.

Dong, X.C., Copps, K.D., Guo, S., Li, Y., Kollipara, R., DePinho, R.A., and White, M.F. (2008). Inactivation of hepatic FoxO1 by insulin signaling is required for adaptive nutrient homeostasis and endocrine growth regulation. Cell Metabolism *8*, 65–76.

Eagle, H., and Leviene, E. (1967). Growth Regulatory Effects of Cellular Interaction. Nature 213, 1102–1106.

Eelen, G., de Zeeuw, P., Treps, L., Harjes, U., Wong, B.W., and Carmeliet, P. (2017). Endothelial Cell Metabolism. Physiological Reviews *98*, 3–58. Eijkelenboom, A., and Burgering, B.M.T. (2013). FOXOs: signalling integrators for homeostasis maintenance. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology *14*, 83–97.

Elenitoba-Johnson, K.S.J., Jenson, S.D., Abbott, R.T., Palais, R.A., Bohling, S.D., Lin, Z., Tripp, S., Shami, P.J., Wang, L.Y., Coupland, R.W., et al. (2003). Involvement of multiple signaling pathways in follicular lymphoma transformation: p38-mitogen-activated protein kinase as a target for therapy. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *100*, 7259–7264.

Eliceiri, B.P., Paul, R., Schwartzberg, P.L., Hood, J.D., Leng, J., and Cheresh, D.A. (1999). Selective Requirement for Src Kinases during VEGF-Induced Angiogenesis and Vascular Permeability. Molecular Cell *4*, 915–924.

Engelmann, B., and Massberg, S. (2013). Thrombosis as an intravascular effector of innate immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology *13*, 34–45.

Enzi, G., Gasparo, M., Biondetti, P.R., Fiore, D., Semisa, M., and Zurlo, F. (1986). Subcutaneous and visceral fat distribution according to sex, age, and overweight, evaluated by computed tomography. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition *44*, 739–746.

Everette, B., and Zajacova, A. (2015). Gender differences in hypertension and hypertension awareness among young adults. Biodemography and Social Biology *61*, 1–17.

Fang, H., and Judd, R.L. (2018). Adiponectin regulation and function. in comprehensive physiology, Comprehensive Physiology *18*, 1031–1063.

Fatima, L.A., Campello, R.S., Santos, R. de S., Freitas, H.S., Frank, A.P., Machado, U.F., and Clegg, D.J. (2017). Estrogen receptor 1 (ESR1) regulates VEGFA in adipose tissue. Scientific Reports 7, 16716.

Faust, D., Dolado, I., Cuadrado, A., Oesch, F., Weiss, C., Nebreda, A.R., and Dietrich, C. (2005). p38 α MAPK is required for contact inhibition. Oncogene 24, 7941–7945.

Ferrara, N., and Henzel, W.J. (1989). Pituitary follicular cells secrete a novel heparin-binding growth factor specific for vascular endothelial cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *161*, 851–858.

Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K.S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K.J., and Moore, M.W. (1996). Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature *380*, 439–442.

Ferrara, N., Gerber, H.-P., and LeCouter, J. (2003). The biology of VEGF and its receptors. Nature Medicine *9*, 669.

Foulds, C.E., Feng, Q., Ding, C., Bailey, S., Hunsaker, T.L., Malovannaya, A., Hamilton, R.A., Gates, L.A., Zhang, Z., Li, C., et al. (2013). Proteomic analysis of coregulators bound to erα on DNA and nucleosomes reveals coregulator dynamics. Molecular Cell *51*, 185–199.

Freedland, E.S. (2004). Role of a critical visceral adipose tissue threshold (CVATT) in metabolic syndrome: implications for controlling dietary carbohydrates: a review. Nutrition and Metabolism 1, 12.

Frias, J.P., Macaraeg, G.B., Ofrecio, J., Yu, J.G., Olefsky, J.M., and Kruszynska, Y.T. (2001). Decreased susceptibility to fatty acid–induced peripheral tissue insulin resistance in women. Diabetes *50*, 1344–1350.

Furukawa, S., Fujita, T., Shimabukuro, M., Iwaki, M., Yamada, Y., Nakajima, Y., Nakayama, O., Makishima, M., Matsuda, M., and Shimomura, I. (2004). Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome. Journal of Clinical Investigation *114*, 1752–1761.

Galic, S., Oakhill, J.S., and Steinberg, G.R. (2010). Adipose tissue as an endocrine organ. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology *316*, 129–139.

Garaulet, M., Pérez-Llamas, F., Baraza, J.C., Garcia-Prieto, M.D., Fardy, P.S., Tébar, F.J., and Zamora, S. (2002). Body fat distribution in pre-and post-menopausal women: metabolic and anthropometric variables. The Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging *6*, 123–126.

Gatenby, R.A., and Gillies, R.J. (2004). Why do cancers have high aerobic glycolysis? Nature Reviews Cancer *4*, 891–899.

Gavin, T.P., Stallings, H.W., Zwetsloot, K.A., Westerkamp, L.M., Ryan, N.A., Moore, R.A., Pofahl, W.E., and Hickner, R.C. (2005). Lower capillary density but no difference in VEGF expression in obese vs. lean young skeletal muscle in humans. Journal of Applied Physiology *98*, 315–321.

Gealekman, O., Guseva, N., Hartigan, C., Apotheker, S., Gorgoglione, M., Gurav, K., Tran, K.-V., Straubhaar, J., Nicoloro, S., Czech, M.P., et al. (2011). Depot-specific differences and insufficient subcutaneous adipose tissue angiogenesis in human obesity. Circulation *123*,186-194.

Geraldes, P., Sirois, M.G., Bernatchez, P.N., and Tanguay, J.-F. (2002). Estrogen regulation of endothelial and smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation: role of p38 and p42/44 mitogenactivated protein kinase. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology *22*, 1585–1590.

Gerber, H.-P., McMurtrey, A., Kowalski, J., Yan, M., Keyt, B.A., Dixit, V., and Ferrara, N. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway requirement for Flk-1/Kdr activation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *273*, 30336–30343.

Gerber, H.P., Hillan, K.J., Ryan, A.M., Kowalski, J., Keller, G.A., Rangell, L., Wright, B.D., Radtke, F., Aguet, M., and Ferrara, N. (1999). VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. Development *126*, 1149–1159.

Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Fruttiger, M., Ruhrberg, C., Lundkvist, A., Abramsson, A., Jeltsch, M., Mitchell, C., Alitalo, K., Shima, D., et al. (2003). VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. The Journal of Cell Biology *161*, 1163–1177.

Gianni-Barrera, R., Trani, M., Reginato, S., and Banfi, A. (2011). To sprout or to split? VEGF, Notch and vascular morphogenesis. Biochemical Society Transactions *39*, 1644–1648.

Gogg, S., Nerstedt, A., Boren, J., and Smith, U. Human adipose tissue microvascular endothelial cells secrete PPARγ ligands and regulate adipose tissue lipid uptake. JCI Insight *4*, e125914.

Gohlke-Bärwolf, C. (2000). Coronary artery disease – is menopause a risk factor? Basic Research in Cardiology *95*, 177–183.

González-Muniesa, P., Mártinez-González, M.-A., Hu, F.B., Després, J.-P., Matsuzawa, Y., Loos, R.J.F., Moreno, L.A., Bray, G.A., and Martinez, J.A. (2017). Obesity. Nature Reviews Disease Primers *3*, 17034.

Gookin, S., Min, M., Phadke, H., Chung, M., Moser, J., Miller, I., Carter, D., and Spencer, S.L. (2017). A map of protein dynamics during cell-cycle progression and cell-cycle exit. PLoS Biology *15*.

Gravholt, C.H. (2004). Epidemiological, endocrine and metabolic features in Turner syndrome. European Journal of Endocrinology *151*, 657–687.

Greenway, F.L., Liu, Z., Yu, Y., Caruso, M.K., Roberts, A.T., Lyons, J., Schwimer, J.E., Gupta, A.K., Bellanger, D.E., Guillot, T.S., et al. (2007). An assay to measure angiogenesis in human fat tissue. Obesity Surgery *17*, 510–515.

Guo, D., Jia, Q., Song, H.-Y., Warren, R.S., and Donner, D.B. (1995). Vascular endothelial cell growth factor promotes tyrosine phosphorylation of mediators of signal transduction that contain SH2 domains association with endothelial cell proliferation. Journal of Biological Chemistry *270*, 6729–6733.

Gupta, R.K., Mepani, R.J., Kleiner, S., Lo, J.C., Khandekar, M.J., Cohen, P., Frontini, A., Bhowmick, D.C., Ye, L., Cinti, S., et al. (2012). Zfp423 expression identifies committed preadipocytes and localizes to adipose endothelial and perivascular cells. Cell Metabolism *15*, 230–239.

Gustafsson, T. (2011). Vascular remodelling in human skeletal muscle. Biochemical Society Transactions *39*, 1628–1632.

Gutterman, D.D., Chabowski, D.S., Kadlec, A.O., Durand, M.J., Freed, J.K., Aissa, K.A., and Beyer, A.M. (2016). The human microcirculation – regulation of flow and beyond. Circulation Research *118*, 157–172.

Hagen, C.P., Main, K.M., Kjaergaard, S., and Juul, A. (2010). FSH, LH, inhibin B and estradiol levels in Turner syndrome depend on age and karyotype: longitudinal study of 70 Turner girls with or without spontaneous puberty. Human Reproduction *25*, 3134–3141.

Halberg, N., Khan, T., Trujillo, M.E., Wernstedt-Asterholm, I., Attie, A.D., Sherwani, S., Wang, Z.V., Landskroner-Eiger, S., Dineen, S., Magalang, U.J., et al. (2009). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α induces fibrosis and insulin resistance in white adipose tissue. Molecular and Cellular Biology *29*, 4467–4483.

Hall, A.P. (2005). The role of angiogenesis in cancer. Comparative Clinical Pathology *13*, 95–99.

Hardy, O.T., Czech, M.P., and Corvera, S. (2012). What causes the insulin resistance underlying obesity? Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Obesity *19*, 81–87.

Heil, M., Eitenmüller, I., Schmitz-Rixen, T., and Schaper, W. (2006). Arteriogenesis versus angiogenesis: similarities and differences. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine *10*, 45–55.

Hellström, M., Phng, L.-K., Hofmann, J.J., Wallgard, E., Coultas, L., Lindblom, P., Alva, J., Nilsson, A.-K., Karlsson, L., Gaiano, N., et al. (2007). Dll4 signalling through Notch1 regulates formation of tip cells during angiogenesis. Nature *445*, 776–780.

Hibi, M., Lin, A., Smeal, T., Minden, A., and Karin, M. (1993). Identification of an oncoproteinand UV-responsive protein kinase that binds and potentiates the c-Jun activation domain. Genes and Development 7, 2135–2148.

Hood, J.D., Frausto, R., Kiosses, W.B., Schwartz, M.A., and Cheresh, D.A. (2003). Differential αv integrin-mediated Ras-ERK signaling during two pathways of angiogenesis. Journal of Cell Biology *162*, 933–943.

Houddane, A., Bultot, L., Novellasdemunt, L., Johanns, M., Gueuning, M.-A., Vertommen, D., Coulie, P.G., Bartrons, R., Hue, L., and Rider, M.H. (2017). Role of Akt/PKB and PFKFB isoenzymes in the control of glycolysis, cell proliferation and protein synthesis in mitogen-stimulated thymocytes. Cellular Signalling *34*, 23–37.

Hsu, J.-T., Hsieh, Y.-C., Kan, W.H., Chen, J.G., Choudhry, M.A., Schwacha, M.G., Bland, K.I., and Chaudry, I.H. (2007). Role of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in estrogenmediated cardioprotection following trauma-hemorrhage. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology *292*, H2982–H2987.

Huxley, V.H., Kemp, S.S., Schramm, C., Sieveking, S., Bingaman, S., Yu, Y., Zaniletti, I., Stockard, K., and Wang, J. (2018). Sex differences influencing micro- and macrovascular endothelial phenotype in vitro. The Journal of Physiology *596*, 3929–3949.

Ignar-Trowbridge, D.M., Pimentel, M., Teng, C.T., Korach, K.S., and McLachlan, J.A. (1995). Cross talk between peptide growth factor and estrogen receptor signaling systems. Environmental Health Perspectives *103*, 35–38.

Iso Tatsuya, Hamamori Yasuo, and Kedes Larry (2003). Notch signaling in vascular development. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology *23*, 543–553.

Jain, R.K. (2003). Molecular regulation of vessel maturation. Nature Medicine 9, 685.

Junttila, M.R., Ala-aho, R., Jokilehto, T., Peltonen, J., Kallajoki, M., Grenman, R., Jaakkola, P., Westermarck, J., and Kähäri, V.-M. (2007). p38 α and p38 δ mitogen-activated protein kinase isoforms regulate invasion and growth of head and neck squamous carcinoma cells. Oncogene *26*, 5267–5279.

Kalucka, J., Bierhansl, L., Conchinha, N.V., Missiaen, R., Elia, I., Brüning, U., Scheinok, S., Treps, L., Cantelmo, A.R., Dubois, C., et al. (2018). Quiescent endothelial cells upregulate fatty acid β -oxidation for vasculoprotection via redox homeostasis. Cell Metabolism 28, 881-894.

Kan, W.-H., Hsu, J.-T., Ba, Z.-F., Schwacha, M.G., Chen, J., Choudhry, M.A., Bland, K.I., and Chaudry, I.H. (2008). p38 MAPK-dependent eNOS upregulation is critical for 17β-estradiolmediated cardioprotection following trauma-hemorrhage. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology *294*, H2627–H2636.

Kashiwagi, S., Izumi, Y., Gohongi, T., Demou, Z.N., Xu, L., Huang, P.L., Buerk, D.G., Munn, L.L., Jain, R.K., and Fukumura, D. (2005). NO mediates mural cell recruitment and vessel morphogenesis in murine melanomas and tissue-engineered blood vessels. Journal of Clinical Investigation *115*, 1816–1827.

Kazmi, R.S., Boyce, S., and Lwaleed, B.A. (2015). Homeostasis of hemostasis: the role of endothelium. Seminars in Thrombosis and Hemostasis *41*, 549–555.

Kelly, D.M., and Jones, T.H. (2015). Testosterone and obesity. Obesity Reviews 16, 581-606.

Kelly, T., Yang, W., Chen, C.-S., Reynolds, K., and He, J. (2008). Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. International Journal of Obesity *32*, 1431–1437.

Kennedy G. C., and Parkes Alan Sterling (1953). The role of depot fat in the hypothalamic control of food intake in the rat. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B - Biological Sciences *140*, 578–592.

Kim, N.-G., Koh, E., Chen, X., and Gumbiner, B.M. (2011). E-cadherin mediates contact inhibition of proliferation through Hippo signaling-pathway components. PNAS *108*, 11930–11935.

Kim, Y.H., Choi, J., Yang, M.J., Hong, S.P., Lee, C., Kubota, Y., Lim, D.-S., and Koh, G.Y. (2019). A MST1–FoxO1 cascade establishes endothelial tip cell polarity and facilitates sprouting angiogenesis. Nature Communications *10*, 1–17.

Kim-Schulze, S., McGowan, K.A., Hubchak, S.C., Cid, M.C., Martin, M.B., Kleinman, H.K., Greene, G.L., and Schnaper, H.W. (1996). Expression of an estrogen receptor by human coronary artery and umbilical vein endothelial cells. Circulation *94*, 1402–1407.

Kito, H., Chen, E.L., Wang, X., Ikeda, M., Azuma, N., Nakajima, N., Gahtan, V., and Sumpio, B.E. (2000). Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases in pulmonary endothelial cells exposed to cyclic strain. Journal of Applied Physiology *89*, 2391–2400.

Koch, A.E., Harlow, L.A., Haines, G.K., Amento, E.P., Wong, W.L., Pope, R.M., and Ferrara, N. (1994). Vascular endothelial growth factor: a cytokine modulating endothelial function in rheumatoid arthritis. The Journal of Immunology *152*, 4149–4156.

Kowanetz, M., and Ferrara, N. (2006). Vascular endothelial growth factor signaling pathways: therapeutic perspective. Clinical Cancer Research *12*, 5018–5022.

Krebs, L.T., Shutter, J.R., Tanigaki, K., Honjo, T., Stark, K.L., and Gridley, T. (2004). Haploinsufficient lethality and formation of arteriovenous malformations in Notch pathway mutants. Genes and Development *18*, 2469–2473.

Krishna Priya, S., Nagare, R.P., Sneha, V.S., Sidhanth, C., Bindhya, S., Manasa, P., and Ganesan, T.S. (2016). Tumour angiogenesis-Origin of blood vessels: Tumour angiogenesis. International Journal of Cancer *139*, 729–735.

Kroll, J., and Waltenberger, J. (1997). The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor KDR activates multiple signal transduction pathways in porcine aortic endothelial cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry *272*, 32521–32527.

Kroll, J., and Waltenberger, J. (1999). A Novel Function of VEGF Receptor-2 (KDR): Rapid release of nitric oxide in response to VEGF-A stimulation in endothelial cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *265*, 636–639.

Krützfeldt, A., Spahr, R., Mertens, S., Siegmund, B., and Piper, H.M. (1990). Metabolism of exogenous substrates by coronary endothelial cells in culture. Journal of Molecular and Cellular Cardiology *22*, 1393–1404.

Kureishi, Y., Luo, Z., Shiojima, I., Bialik, A., Fulton, D., Lefer, D.J., Sessa, W.C., and Walsh, K. (2000). The HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor simvastatin activates the protein kinase Akt and promotes angiogenesis in normocholesterolemic animals. Nature Medicine. *6*, 1004–1010.

Kyriakis, J.M., and Avruch, J. (2001). Mammalian mitogen-activated protein kinase signal transduction pathways activated by stress and inflammation. Physiological Reviews *81*, 807–869.

Lali, F.V., Hunt, A.E., Turner, S.J., and Foxwell, B.M.J. (2000). The pyridinyl imidazole inhibitor SB203580 blocks phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase activity, protein kinase b phosphorylation, and retinoblastoma hyperphosphorylation in Interleukin-2-stimulated T cells

independently of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275, 7395–7402.

Lamalice, L., Houle, F., and Huot, J. (2006). Phosphorylation of Tyr1214 within VEGFR-2 triggers the recruitment of Nck and activation of Fyn leading to SAPK2/p38 activation and endothelial cell migration in response to VEGF. Journal of Biological Chemistry. *281*, 34009–34020.

Lantin-Hermoso, R.L., Rosenfeld, C.R., Yuhanna, I.S., German, Z., Chen, Z., and Shaul, P.W. (1997). Estrogen acutely stimulates nitric oxide synthase activity in fetal pulmonary artery endothelium. American journal of physiology-lung cellular and molecular physiology *273*, L119–L126.

Lash, J.M., Sherman, W.M., and Hamlin, R.L. (1989). Capillary basement membrane thickness and capillary density in sedentary and trained obese Zucker rats. Diabetes *38*, 854–860.

Lee, M.-J., Wu, Y., and Fried, S.K. (2013). Adipose tissue heterogeneity: implication of depot differences in adipose tissue for obesity complications. Molecular Aspects of Medicine *34*, 1–11.

Lee, S., Chen, T.T., Barber, C.L., Jordan, M.C., Murdock, J., Desai, S., Ferrara, N., Nagy, A., Roos, K.P., and Iruela-Arispe, M.L. (2007). Autocrine VEGF signaling is required for vascular homeostasis. Cell *130*, 691–703.

Lee, Y.S., Kim, J., Osborne, O., Oh, D.Y., Sasik, R., Schenk, S., Chen, A., Chung, H., Murphy, A., Watkins, S.M., et al. (2014). Increased adipocyte O2 consumption triggers HIF-1 α , causing inflammation and insulin resistance in obesity. Cell *157*, 1339–1352.

Leung, D., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W., Goeddel, D., and Ferrara, N. (1989). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science *246*, 1306–1309.

Levick, J.R. (1991). An introduction to cardiovascular physiology (Boston, MA: Butterworth-Heinemann).

Lijnen, H.R., Christiaens, V., Scroyen, I., Voros, G., Tjwa, M., Carmeliet, P., and Collen, D. (2006). Impaired adipose tissue development in mice with inactivation of placental growth factor function. Diabetes *55*, 2698–2704.

Lima, R., Wofford, M., and Reckelhoff, J.F. (2012). Hypertension in postmenopausal women. Current Hypertension Reports *14*, 254–260.

Link, J.C., and Reue, K. (2017). The genetic basis for sex differences in obesity and lipid metabolism. Annual review of Nutrition *37*, 225–245.

Liu, X., Chen, B., Chen, L., Ren, W.-T., Liu, J., Wang, G., Fan, W., Wang, X., and Wang, Y. (2013). U-shape suppressive effect of phenol red on the epileptiform burst activity via activation of estrogen receptors in primary hippocampal culture. PLoS ONE *8*, e60189.

Lobo, R.A. (2008). Metabolic syndrome after menopause and the role of hormones. Maturitas *60*, 10–18.

Logue, J., Walker, J.J., Colhoun, H.M., Leese, G.P., Lindsay, R.S., McKnight, J.A., Morris, A.D., Pearson, D.W., Petrie, J.R., Philip, S., et al. (2011). Do men develop type 2 diabetes at lower body mass indices than women? Diabetologia *54*, 3003–3006.

Lorenz, M., Koschate, J., Kaufmann, K., Kreye, C., Mertens, M., Kuebler, W.M., Baumann, G., Gossing, G., Marki, A., Zakrzewicz, A., et al. (2015). Does cellular sex matter? Dimorphic transcriptional differences between female and male endothelial cells. Atherosclerosis *240*, 61–72.

Losordo, D.W., and Isner, J.M. (2001). Estrogen and angiogenesis: A review. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology *21*, 6–12.

Lupien, M., Meyer, C.A., Bailey, S.T., Eeckhoute, J., Cook, J., Westerling, T., Zhang, X., Carroll, J.S., Rhodes, D.R., Liu, X.S., et al. (2010). Growth factor stimulation induces a distinct ER (alpha) cistrome underlying breast cancer endocrine resistance. Genes and Development *24*, 2219–2227.

Lynes, M.D., Leiria, L.O., Lundh, M., Bartelt, A., Shamsi, F., Huang, T.L., Takahashi, H., Hirshman, M.F., Schlein, C., Lee, A., et al. (2017). The cold-induced lipokine 12,13-diHOME promotes fatty acid transport into brown adipose tissue. Nature Medicine *23*, 631–637.

Macotela, Y., Boucher, J., Tran, T.T., and Kahn, C.R. (2009). Sex and depot differences in adipocyte insulin sensitivity and glucose metabolism. Diabetes *58*, 803–812.

Makanya, A.N., Hlushchuk, R., and Djonov, V.G. (2009). Intussusceptive angiogenesis and its role in vascular morphogenesis, patterning, and remodeling. Angiogenesis *12*, 113.

Marais, R., Wynne, J., and Treisman, R. (1993). The SRF accessory protein Elk-1 contains a growth factor-regulated transcriptional activation domain. Cell *73*, 381–393.

Matsumoto, T., Turesson, I., Book, M., Gerwins, P., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2002). p38 MAP kinase negatively regulates endothelial cell survival, proliferation, and differentiation in FGF-2–stimulated angiogenesis. Journal of Cell Biology *156*, 149–160.

Matsuzaki, H., Daitoku, H., Hatta, M., Tanaka, K., and Fukamizu, A. (2003). Insulin-induced phosphorylation of FKHR (FoxO1) targets to proteasomal degradation. PNAS *100*, 11285–11290.

Matsuzawa, Y. (2006). The metabolic syndrome and adipocytokines. FEBS Letters 580, 2917–2921.

Mauvais-Jarvis, F. (2015). Sex differences in metabolic homeostasis, diabetes, and obesity. Biology of Sex Differences *6*, 14.

McKay, M.M., and Morrison, D.K. (2007). Integrating signals from RTKs to ERK/MAPK. Oncogene *26*, 3113–3121.

McLaughlin, T., Lamendola, C., Liu, A., and Abbasi, F. (2011). Preferential fat deposition in subcutaneous versus visceral depots is associated with insulin sensitivity. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *96*, E1756–E1760.

Medrikova, D., Jilkova, Z.M., Bardova, K., Janovska, P., Rossmeisl, M., and Kopecky, J. (2012). Sex differences during the course of diet-induced obesity in mice: adipose tissue expandability and glycemic control. International Journal of Obesity *36*, 262–272.

Mentzer, S.J., and Konerding, M.A. (2014). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: expansion and remodeling of microvascular networks. Angiogenesis *17*, 499–509.

Morales, D.E., McGowan, K.A., Grant, D.S., Maheshwari, S., Bhartiya, D., Cid, M.C., Kleinman, H.K., and Schnaper, H.W. (1995). Estrogen promotes angiogenic activity in human umbilical vein endothelial cells in vitro and in a murine model. Circulation *91*, 755–763.

Morales-Ruiz, M., Fulton, D., Sowa, G., Languino, L.R., Fujio, Y., Walsh, K., and Sessa, W.C. (2000). Vascular endothelial growth factor-stimulated actin reorganization and migration of endothelial cells is regulated via the serine/threonine kinase Akt. Circulation Research *86*, 892–896.

Motti, M.L., Califano, D., Baldassarre, G., Celetti, A., Merolla, F., Forzati, F., Napolitano, M., Tavernise, B., Fusco, A., and Viglietto, G. (2005). Reduced E-cadherin expression contributes to the loss of p27kip1-mediated mechanism of contact inhibition in thyroid anaplastic carcinomas. Carcinogenesis *26*, 1021–1034.

Murakami, M. (2012). Signaling required for blood vessel maintenance: molecular basis and pathological manifestations. International Journal of Vascular Medicine *2012*.

Murphy, D.A., and Courtneidge, S.A. (2011). The "ins" and "outs" of podosomes and invadopodia: characteristics, formation and function. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology *12*, 413–426.

Niessen, C.M., Leckband, D., and Yap, A.S. (2011). Tissue organization by cadherin adhesion molecules: dynamic molecular and cellular mechanisms of morphogenetic regulation. Physiological Reviews *91*, 691–731.

Nishimura, S., Manab, I., and Nagai, R. (2009). Adipose tissue inflammation in obesity and metabolic syndrome. Discovery Medicine *8*, 55-60.

Nookaew, I., Svensson, P.-A., Jacobson, P., Jernås, M., Taube, M., Larsson, I., Andersson-Assarsson, J.C., Sjöström, L., Froguel, P., Walley, A., et al. (2013). Adipose tissue resting energy expenditure and expression of genes involved in mitochondrial function are higher in women than in men. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *98*, E370–E378.

Nuutila, P., Knuuti, M.J., Mäki, M., Laine, H., Ruotsalainen, U., Teräs, M., Haaparanta, M., Solin, O., and Yki-Järvinen, H. (1995). Gender and insulin sensitivity in the heart and in skeletal muscles: studies using positron emission tomography. Diabetes *44*, 31–36.

Olsson, A.-K., Dimberg, A., Kreuger, J., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). VEGF receptor signalling in control of vascular function. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 7, 359.

Ono, K., and Han, J. (1999). Review Article: The p38 signal transduction pathway Activation and function. Cellular Signalling *12*, 1-13.

O'Rourke, R.W., White, A.E., Metcalf, M.D., Olivas, A.S., Mitra, P., Larison, W.G., Cheang, E.C., Varlamov, O., Corless, C.L., Roberts, C.T., et al. (2011). Hypoxia-induced inflammatory cytokine secretion in human adipose tissue stromovascular cells. Diabetologia *54*, 1480–1490.

Pang, C., Gao, Z., Yin, J., Zhang, J., Jia, W., and Ye, J. (2008). Macrophage infiltration into adipose tissue may promote angiogenesis for adipose tissue remodeling in obesity. American Journal of Physiology- Endocrinology and Metabolism *295*, E313–E322.

Papetti, M., and Herman, I.M. (2002). Mechanisms of normal and tumor-derived angiogenesis. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 282, C947–C970.

Park, J., Kim, M., Sun, K., An, Y.A., Gu, X., and Scherer, P.E. (2017). VEGF-A–expressing adipose tissue shows rapid beiging and enhanced survival after transplantation and confers IL-4–independent metabolic improvements. Diabetes *66*, 1479–1490.

Park, J.E., Keller, G.A., and Ferrara, N. (1993). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms: differential deposition into the subepithelial extracellular matrix and bioactivity of extracellular matrix-bound VEGF. Molecular Biology of the Cell *4*, 1317–1326.

Pasarica, M., Sereda, O.R., Redman, L.M., Albarado, D.C., Hymel, D.T., Roan, L.E., Rood, J.C., Burk, D.H., and Smith, S.R. (2009). Reduced adipose tissue oxygenation in human obesity. Diabetes *58*, 718–725.

Patella, F., Schug, Z.T., Persi, E., Neilson, L.J., Erami, Z., Avanzato, D., Maione, F., Hernandez-Fernaud, J.R., Mackay, G., Zheng, L., et al. (2015). Proteomics-based metabolic modeling reveals that fatty acid oxidation (FAO) controls endothelial cell (EC) permeability. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics *14*, 621–634.

Peach, C.J., Mignone, V.W., Arruda, M.A., Alcobia, D.C., Hill, S.J., Kilpatrick, L.E., and Woolard, J. (2018). Molecular pharmacology of VEGF-A isoforms: binding and signalling at VEGFR2. International Journal of Molecular Sciences *19*, 1264.

Pepper, M.S., Ferrara, N., Orci, L., and Montesano, R. (1992). Potent synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor in the induction of angiogenesis in vitro. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications *189*, 824–831.

Phng, L.-K., and Gerhardt, H. (2009). Angiogenesis: a team effort coordinated by notch. Developmental cell *16*, 196–208.

Pober, J.S., and Sessa, W.C. (2007). Evolving functions of endothelial cells in inflammation. Nature Reviews Immunology 7, 803–815.

Pontes-Quero, S., Fernández-Chacón, M., Luo, W., Lunella, F.F., Casquero-Garcia, V., Garcia-Gonzalez, I., Hermoso, A., Rocha, S.F., Bansal, M., and Benedito, R. (2019). High mitogenic stimulation arrests angiogenesis. Nature Communications *10*, 2016.

Powell, K. (2007). Obesity: The two faces of fat. Nature 447, 525–527.

Prospective Studies Collaboration (2009). Body-mass index and cause-specific mortality in 900 000 adults: collaborative analyses of 57 prospective studies. Lancet *373*, 1083–1096.

Pugh, C.W., and Ratcliffe, P.J. (2003). Regulation of angiogenesis by hypoxia: role of the HIF system. Nature Medicine *9*, 677.

Quaegebeur, A., Segura, I., and Carmeliet, P. (2010). Pericytes: blood-brain barrier safeguards against neurodegeneration? Neuron *68*, 321–323.

Rafii, S., and Carmeliet, P. (2016). Vegf-b improves metabolic health through vascular pruning of fat. Cell Metabolism *23*, 571–573.

Ramirez, M.E., McMurry, M.P., Wiebke, G.A., Felten, K.J., Ren, K., Meikle, A.W., and Iverius, P.-H. (1997). Evidence for sex steroid inhibition of lipoprotein lipase in men: Comparison of abdominal and femoral adipose tissue. Metabolism *46*, 179–185.

Ren, B., Deng, Y., Mukhopadhyay, A., Lanahan, A.A., Zhuang, Z.W., Moodie, K.L., Mulligan-Kehoe, M.J., Byzova, T.V., Peterson, R.T., and Simons, M. (2010). ERK1/2-Akt1 crosstalk regulates arteriogenesis in mice and zebrafish. Journal of Clinical Investigation *120*, 1217–1228.

Ribatti, D., Nico, B., and Crivellato, E. (2011). The role of pericytes in angiogenesis. The International Journal of Developmental Biology *55*, 261–268.

Risau, W. (1997). Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386, 671-674.

Rodríguez-Cuenca, S., Pujol, E., Justo, R., Frontera, M., Oliver, J., Gianotti, M., and Roca, P. (2002). Sex-dependent thermogenesis, differences in mitochondrial morphology and function, and adrenergic response in brown adipose tissue. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277, 42958–42963.

Rohlenova, K., Veys, K., Miranda-Santos, I., De Bock, K., and Carmeliet, P. (2018). Endothelial Cell Metabolism in Health and Disease. Trends in Cell Biology *28*, 224–236.

Romano, D., Nguyen, L.K., Matallanas, D., Halasz, M., Doherty, C., Kholodenko, B.N., and Kolch, W. (2014). Protein interaction switches coordinate Raf-1 and MST2/Hippo signalling. Nature Cell Biology *16*, 673–684.

Rosenthal, R.A., Megyesi, J.F., Henzel, W.J., Ferrara, N., and Folkman, J. (1990). Conditioned medium from mouse sarcoma 180 cells contains vascular endothelial growth factor. Growth Factors *4*, 53–59.

Rousseau, S., Houle, F., Landry, J., and Huot, J. (1997). p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. Oncogene *15*, 2169–2177.

Rudnicki, M., Abdifarkosh, G., Rezvan, O., Nwadozi, E., Roudier, E., and Haas, T.L. (2018). Female mice have higher angiogenesis in perigonadal adipose tissue than males in response to high-fat diet. Frontiers in Physiology *9*, 1452.

Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Watson, R., Ioannidou, S., Fujisawa, H., Betsholtz, C., and Shima, D.T. (2002). Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis. Genes and Development *16*, 2684–2698.

Sack, K.D., Teran, M., and Nugent, M.A. (2016). Extracellular matrix stiffness controls vegf signaling and processing in endothelial cells. Journal of Cellular Physiology *231*, 2026–2039.

Sacks, H., and Symonds, M.E. (2013). Anatomical locations of human brown adipose tissue: functional relevance and implications in obesity and type 2 diabetes. Diabetes *62*, 1783–1790.

Salih, D.A.M., and Brunet, A. (2008). FoxO transcription factors in the maintenance of cellular homeostasis during aging. Current Opinion in Cell Biology *20*, 126–136.

Sandoo, A., van Zanten, J.J.C.S.V., Metsios, G.S., Carroll, D., and Kitas, G.D. (2010). The endothelium and its role in regulating vascular tone. The Open Cardiovascular Medicine Journal *4*, 302–312.

Scheja, L., and Heeren, J. (2019). The endocrine function of adipose tissues in health and cardiometabolic disease. Nature Reviews Endocrinology *15*, 505-524.

Schlegelmilch, K., Mohseni, M., Kirak, O., Pruszak, J., Rodriguez, J.R., Zhou, D., Kreger, B.T., Vasioukhin, V., Avruch, J., Brummelkamp, T.R., et al. (2011). Yap1 acts downstream of α -catenin to control epidermal proliferation. Cell *144*, 782–795.

Schoors, S., Bruning, U., Missiaen, R., Queiroz, K.C.S., Borgers, G., Elia, I., Zecchin, A., Cantelmo, A.R., Christen, S., Goveia, J., et al. (2015). Fatty acid carbon is essential for dNTP synthesis in endothelial cells. Nature *520*, 192–197.

Schuur, E.R., Loktev, A.V., Sharma, M., Sun, Z., Roth, R.A., and Weigel, R.J. (2001). Liganddependent interaction of estrogen receptor-α with members of the forkhead transcription factor family. Journal of Biological Chemistry *276*, 33554–33560.

Selby, C. (1990). Sex Hormone Binding Globulin: Origin, Function and Clinical Significance. Annals of Clinical Biochemistry 27, 532–541.

Senger, D.R., Galli, S.J., Dvorak, A.M., Perruzzi, C.A., Harvey, V.S., and Dvorak, H.F. (1983). Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science *219*, 983–985.

Sengupta, A., Chakraborty, S., Paik, J., Yutzey, K.E., and Evans-Anderson, H.J. (2012). FoxO1 is required in endothelial but not myocardial cell lineages during cardiovascular development. Developmental Dynamics *241*, 803–813.

Serban, D., Leng, J., and Cheresh, D. (2008). H-Ras regulates angiogenesis and vascular permeability by activation of distinct downstream effectors. Circulation Research *102*, 1350–1358.

Shaul, Y.D., and Seger, R. (2007). The MEK/ERK cascade: From signaling specificity to diverse functions. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta *1773*, 1213–1226.

Sierra-Honigmann, M.R., Nath, A.K., Murakami, C., García-Cardeña, G., Papapetropoulos, A., Sessa, W.C., Madge, L.A., Schechner, J.S., Schwabb, M.B., Polverini, P.J., et al. (1998). Biological action of leptin as an angiogenic factor. Science *281*, 1683–1686.

Sigismund, S., Avanzato, D., and Lanzetti, L. (2018). Emerging functions of the EGFR in cancer. Molecular Oncology *12*, 3–20.

Silvis, M.R., Kreger, B.T., Lien, W.-H., Klezovitch, O., Rudakova, G.M., Camargo, F.D., Lantz, D.M., Seykora, J.T., and Vasioukhin, V. (2011). α -catenin is a tumor suppressor that controls cell accumulation by regulating the localization and activity of the transcriptional coactivator Yap1. Science Signaling *4*, ra33.

Simoncini, T., Scorticati, C., Mannella, P., Fadiel, A., Giretti, M.S., Fu, X.-D., Baldacci, C., Garibaldi, S., Caruso, A., Fornari, L., et al. (2006). Estrogen receptor α interacts with G α 13 to drive Actin remodeling and endothelial cell migration via the Rhoa/Rho kinase/Moesin pathway. Molecular Endocrinolology *20*, 1756–1771.

Solinas, G., and Becattini, B. (2016). JNK at the crossroad of obesity, insulin resistance, and cell stress response. Molecular Metabolism *6*, 174–184.

Spencer, M., Unal, R., Zhu, B., Rasouli, N., McGehee, R.E., Peterson, C.A., and Kern, P.A. (2011). Adipose Tissue Extracellular Matrix and Vascular Abnormalities in Obesity and Insulin Resistance. The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism *96*, E1990–E1998.
Spiegelaere, W.D., Casteleyn, C., Broeck, W.V. den, Plendl, J., Bahramsoltani, M., Simoens, P., Djonov, V., and Cornillie, P. (2012). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: a biologically relevant form of angiogenesis. Journal of Vestibular Research *49*, 390–404.

Srinivasan, R., Zabuawala, T., Huang, H., Zhang, J., Gulati, P., Fernandez, S., Karlo, J.C., Landreth, G.E., Leone, G., and Ostrowski, M.C. (2009). Erk1 and Erk2 regulate endothelial cell proliferation and migration during mouse embryonic angiogenesis. PLoS One *4*, e8283.

Steinarsson, A.O., Rawshani, A., Gudbjörnsdottir, S., Franzén, S., Svensson, A.-M., and Sattar, N. (2018). Short-term progression of cardiometabolic risk factors in relation to age at type 2 diabetes diagnosis: a longitudinal observational study of 100,606 individuals from the Swedish National Diabetes Register. Diabetologia *61*, 599–606.

Straus, D.S., and Takemoto, C.D. (1990). Effect of fasting on insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and growth hormone receptor mRNA levels and IGF-I gene transcription in rat liver. Molecular Endocrinology *4*, 91–100.

Sturtzel, C. (2017). Endothelial Cells. In The Immunology of Cardiovascular Homeostasis and Pathology, S. Sattler, and T. Kennedy-Lydon, eds. (Cham: Springer International Publishing), pp. 71–91.

Sun, K., Kusminski, C.M., and Scherer, P.E. (2011). Adipose tissue remodeling and obesity. Journal of Clinical Investigation *121*, 2094–2101.

Surapisitchat, J., Hoefen, R.J., Pi, X., Yoshizumi, M., Yan, C., and Berk, B.C. (2001). Fluid shear stress inhibits TNF- α activation of JNK but not ERK1/2 or p38 in human umbilical vein endothelial cells: Inhibitory crosstalk among MAPK family members. PNAS *98*, 6476–6481.

Takahashi, T., Ueno, H., and Shibuya, M. (1999). VEGF activates protein kinase C-dependent, but Ras-independent Raf-MEK-MAP kinase pathway for DNA synthesis in primary endothelial cells. Oncogene *18*, 2221–2230.

Tammela, T., Zarkada, G., Wallgard, E., Murtomäki, A., Suchting, S., Wirzenius, M., Waltari, M., Hellström, M., Schomber, T., Peltonen, R., et al. (2008). Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation. Nature *454*, 656–660.

Tang, W., Zeve, D., Suh, J.M., Bosnakovski, D., Kyba, M., Hammer, R.E., Tallquist, M.D., and Graff, J.M. (2008). White Fat Progenitor Cells Reside in the Adipose Vasculature. Science *322*, 583–586.

Tchernof, A., and Després, J.-P. (2013). Pathophysiology of Human Visceral Obesity: An Update. Physiological Reviews *93*, 359–404.

Tedgui Alain, and Mallat Ziad (2001). Anti-Inflammatory Mechanisms in the Vascular Wall. Circulation Research *88*, 877–887.

Tekkatte, C., Gunasingh, G.P., Cherian, K.M., and Sankaranarayanan, K. (2011). "Humanized" stem cell culture techniques: the animal serum controversy. Stem Cells International *2011*, 504723.

Thomas, K.A. (1996). Vascular endothelial growth factor, a potent and selective angiogenic agent. Journal of Biological Chemistry 271, 603–606.

Tran, K.-V., Gealekman, O., Frontini, A., Zingaretti, M.C., Morroni, M., Giordano, A., Smorlesi, A., Perugini, J., De Matteis, R., Sbarbati, A., et al. (2012). The Vascular Endothelium of the Adipose Tissue Gives Rise to Both White and Brown Fat Cells. Cell Metabolism *15*, 222–229.

Trayhurn, P., and Beattie, J.H. (2001). Physiological role of adipose tissue: white adipose tissue as an endocrine and secretory organ. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society *60*, 329–339.

Tzivion, G., Dobson, M., and Ramakrishnan, G. (2011). FoxO transcription factors; Regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta *1813*, 1938–1945.

Uchida, C., Gee, E., Ispanovic, E., and Haas, T.L. (2008). JNK as a positive regulator of angiogenic potential in endothelial cells. Cell Biology International *32*, 769–776.

Van Groningen, J.P., Wenink, A.C., and Testers, L.H. (1991). Myocardial capillaries: increase in number by splitting of existing vessels. Anatomy and Embryology. *184*, 65–70.

Vander Heiden, M.G., Cantley, L.C., and Thompson, C.B. (2009). Understanding the Warburg Effect: The Metabolic Requirements of Cell Proliferation. Science *324*, 1029–1033.

Vanetti, C., Vicentini, L.M., and Cattaneo, M.G. (2016). Hormone-deprived serum impairs angiogenic properties in human endothelial cells regardless of estrogens. Endocrine Research *41*, 325–333.

Vanetti, C., Bifari, F., Vicentini, L.M., and Cattaneo, M.G. (2017). Fatty acids rather than hormones restore in vitro angiogenesis in human male and female endothelial cells cultured in charcoal-stripped serum. PloS one *12*, e0189528.

Vempati, P., Popel, A.S., and Mac Gabhann, F. (2014). Extracellular regulation of VEGF: isoforms, proteolysis, and vascular patterning. Cytokine and Growth Factor Reviews *25*, 1–19.

Venkov, C.D., Rankin, A.B., and Vaughan, D.E. (1996). Identification of authentic estrogen receptor in cultured endothelial cells. A potential mechanism for steroid hormone regulation of endothelial function. Circulation *94*, 727–733.

Vestweber, D. (2012). Relevance of endothelial junctions in leukocyte extravasation and vascular permeability. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *1257*, 184–192.

Virtue, S., and Vidal-Puig, A. (2010). Adipose tissue expandability, lipotoxicity and the Metabolic Syndrome — An allostatic perspective. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA). Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids *1801*, 338–349.

Wagner, E.F., and Nebreda, Á.R. (2009). Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nature Reviews Cancer *9*, 537–549.

Wajchenberg, B.L. (2000). Subcutaneous and Visceral Adipose Tissue: Their Relation to the Metabolic Syndrome. Endocrine Reviews *21*, 697–738.

Waltenberger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L., Siegbahn, A., Shibuya, M., and Heldin, C.H. (1994). Different signal transduction properties of KDR and Flt1, two receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor. The Journal of Biochemical Chemistry *269*, 26988–26995.

Wang, G.L., and Semenza, G.L. (1993). Desferrioxamine induces erythropoietin gene expression and hypoxia- inducible factor 1 DNA-binding activity: implications for models of hypoxia signal transduction. Blood *82*, 3610–3615.

Wang, H., Eriksson, H., and Sahlin, L. (2000). Estrogen Receptors α and β in the Female Reproductive Tract of the Rat During the Estrous Cycle. Biology of Reproduction 63, 1331–1340.

Wang, T., Zhao, H., Gao, H., Zhu, C., Xu, Y., Bai, L., Liu, J., and Yan, F. (2018). Expression and phosphorylation of FoxO1 influences cell proliferation and apoptosis in the gastrointestinal stromal tumor cell line GIST-T1. Experimental and Therapeutic Medicine *15*, 3197–3202.

Welshons, W.V., Wolf, M.F., Murphy, C.S., and Jordan, V.C. (1988). Estrogenic activity of phenol red. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology *57*, 169–178.

Wilhelm, K., Happel, K., Eelen, G., Schoors, S., Oellerich, M.F., Lim, R., Zimmermann, B., Aspalter, I.M., Franco, C.A., Boettger, T., et al. (2016). FoxO1 couples metabolic activity and growth state in the vascular endothelium. Nature *529*, 216–220.

Wood, C.D., Thornton, T.M., Sabio, G., Davis, R.A., and Rincon, M. (2009). Nuclear Localization of p38 MAPK in Response to DNA Damage. International Journal of Biological Sciences *5*, 428–437.

Wyatt, S.B., Winters, K.P., and Dubbert, P.M. (2006). Overweight and Obesity: Prevalence, Consequences, and Causes of a Growing Public Health Problem. The American Journal of the Medical Sciences *331*, 166–174.

Yamaguchi, M., Katoh, S., Morimoto, C., Sakayama, K., Shiosaka, T., Masuno, H., and Okuda, H. (2002). The hormonal responses of lipoprotein lipase activity and lipolysis in adipose tissue differ depending on the stage of the estrous cycle in female rats. International Journal of Obesity *26*, 610–617.

Yancopoulos, G.D., Davis, S., Gale, N.W., Rudge, J.S., Wiegand, S.J., and Holash, J. (2000). Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 407, 242–248.

Yanovski, J.A. (2018). Trends in underweight and obesity: Scale of the problem. Nature Reviews Endocrinology *14*, 5–6.

Yau, J.W., Teoh, H., and Verma, S. (2015). Endothelial cell control of thrombosis. BMC Cardiovascular Disorders *15*, 130.

Yore, M.M., Syed, I., Moraes-Vieira, P.M., Zhang, T., Herman, M.A., Homan, E., Patel, R.T., Lee, J., Chen, S., Peroni, O.D., et al. (2014). Discovery of a class of endogenous mammalian lipids with anti-diabetic and anti-inflammatory effects. Cell *159*, 318–332.

Yu, P., Wilhelm, K., Dubrac, A., Tung, J.K., Alves, T.C., Fang, J.S., Xie, Y., Zhu, J., Chen, Z., De Smet, F., et al. (2017). FGF-dependent metabolic control of vascular development. Nature *545*, 224–228.

Yuan, S.Y., and Rigor, R.R. (2011). Regulation of endothelial barrier function (San Rafael ,CA: Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences).

Zhang, W., and Liu, H.T. (2002). MAPK signal pathways in the regulation of cell proliferation in mammalian cells. Cell Research *12*, 9–18.

Zhang, Y., and Dong, C. (2007). Regulatory mechanisms of mitogen-activated kinase signaling. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences *64*, 2771–2789.

Zhang, Y., Proenca, R., Maffei, M., Barone, M., Leopold, L., and Friedman, J.M. (1994). Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature 372, 425.

Zhang, Y., Dong, X., Shirazi, J., Gleghorn, J.P., and Lingappan, K. (2018). Pulmonary endothelial cells exhibit sexual dimorphism in their response to hyperoxia. American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology *315*, H1287–H1292.

Zhao, D., Xue, C., Lin, S., Shi, S., Li, Q., Liu, M., Cai, X., and Lin, Y. (2017). Notch signaling pathway regulates angiogenesis via endothelial cell in 3d co-culture model. Journal of Cellular Physiology *232*, 1548–1558.

Zhao, X., Huang, L., Yin, Y., Fang, Y., Zhao, J., and Chen, J. (2008). Estrogen induces endothelial progenitor cells proliferation and migration by estrogen receptors and PI3K-dependent pathways. Microvascular Research *75*, 45–52.

Zhao, Y., Li, X., Yang, L., Eckel-Mahan, K., Tong, Q., Gu, X., Kolonin, M.G., and Sun, K. (2018). Transient overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor a in adipose tissue promotes energy expenditure via activation of the sympathetic nervous system. Molecular and Cellular Biology. *38*.

Zhou, A.L., Egginton, S., Hudlická, O., and Brown, M.D. (1998). Internal division of capillaries in rat skeletal muscle in response to chronic vasodilator treatment with α 1-antagonist prazosin. Cell and Tissue Research 293, 293–303.

Zore, T., Palafox, M., and Reue, K. (2018). Sex differences in obesity, lipid metabolism, and inflammation—A role for the sex chromosomes? Molecular Metabolism *15*, 35–44.

Zysow Bernice R., Kauser Katalin, Lawn Richard M., and Rubanyi Gabor M. (1997). Effects of estrus cycle, ovariectomy, and treatment with estrogen, tamoxifen, and progesterone on apolipoprotein(a) gene expression in transgenic mice. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology *17*, 1741–1745.